City of East Grand Rapids
Regular City Commission Meeting
Agenda

October 15, 2018 – 6:00 p.m.
(EGR Community Center – 750 Lakeside Drive)

Note:

An executive session is scheduled to take place following the special meeting to discuss an attorney’s opinion in
accordance with Section 8(h) of the Open Meetings Act.

1.

Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance.

2.

Public Comment by persons in attendance.

3.

Report of Mayor and City Commissioners.

Regular Agenda Items
4.

Zoning variance hearing on the request of Philip & Elizabeth Skaggs of 2615 Hall to allow:
a.

the construction of a 6.0’ fence in the street side yard instead of the allowed 3.0’ and to be located 1.0’ from the
property line instead of the required 20.0’

b.

A detached pool accessory structure in the street side yard 1.0’ off the property line

c.

The detached pool accessory structure to be located 7’1” from the principle structure instead of the required 10.0’
(action requested – 44 notices sent).

5.

Public hearing on request to rezone the property at 2755 Hall to R-2 Residential (action requested).

6.

Presentation of audited financial statements for FY 2017-18 (no action requested).

7.

Final Reading of an ordinance to amend Article I of Chapter 83 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to general
fence requirements (approval requested).

8.

Introduction of an ordinance to amend Chapter 32 of Title III of the City Code pertaining to trees, shrubs and plants
(approval requested).

9.

Introduction of an ordinance to amend Chapter 41 of Title IV of the City Code pertaining to street and sidewalk
provisions (approval requested).

10. Introduction of an ordinance to amend Chapter 42 of Title IV of the City Code pertaining to sidewalks (approval
requested).
11. Policy for the placement of in-street pedestrian crossing signs (approval requested).
Consent Agenda – Approval Requested
12. Receipt of communications.
13. Minutes of the special meeting held September 24, 2018.
14. Minutes of the regular meeting held October 1, 2018.
15. Report of Finance Committee on disbursement of funds: payroll disbursements of $222,191.58; county and school
disbursements of $50,933.11, and total remaining disbursements of $210,329.03.
16. Budget amendments for the quarter ending September 30, 2018.
17. Contract for property and liability insurance.
*

*

*

The City will provide reasonable auxiliary aids for individuals requiring them for effective communication in programs and services of the City.
Notice must be made to the City five (5) days prior to the program or service requesting the specific auxiliary aid.

CITY OF

EAST GRAND RAPIDS
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ALEKSANDER P. MIZIKAR
ZONING ADMINISTRATOR

MEMORANDUM
TO:
FROM:
DATE:

Mayor and City Commissioners
Alek Mizikar, Zoning Administrator
September 28, 2018

RE:

Request for Zoning Variances – 2615 Hall Street SE – PPN: 41-14-34-376-031

Action Requested:
That the City Commission, acting as the Zoning Board of Appeals, conducts a public hearing and
votes on the applicant’s zoning variance request for the following:
• Chapter 83 Section 8.61.C – A variance to allow a fence in the street side yard to be 6’ in
height within 1 feet of the property line, rather than the 3’ height maximum within 20 feet
from the property line.
• Chapter 50 Section 5.70.A.8.b – A variance to construct a 7’ by 6’ detached pool accessory
structure in the street side yard of their corner lot 1’ off of the property line. The structure is to
be 6’ in height.
• Chapter 50 Section 5.70.A.6 – A variance to construct a 7’ by 6’ detached pool accessory
structure 7’1” from the principle structure. Structure must be 10’ away.
Background and Findings:
The applicants, Philip and Elizabeth Skaggs, have requested three (3) zoning variances for the
construction of their fence and shed. A site plan is included in the agenda packet. The requests are as
follows:
Chapter 83 Section 8.61.C – The applicants wish to construct a 6’ wooden privacy fence 1’ off of
the property line in their street side yard of their corner lot. Any fence within 20’ of the street side
yard lot line on a corner lot cannot be larger than 36”, or it must be see-through such as a chain-link
fence. Due to the presence of a swimming pool, the Michigan Building Code requires a 4’ fence to
enclose the pool.
Chapter 50 Section 5.70.A.8.b – The applicants wish to construct a 7’ by 6’ detached pool accessory
structure in their street side yard 1’ off of the property line. The structure is to be 6’ in height.
Detached accessory pool structures must be in a rear yard, or in a side yard location that is 60’ from
any street right-of-way. Since this is a corner lot, the street side yard also acts as a ‘front yard’. So
any accessory structure must be built no closer to a street right-of-way line than the existing principle
structure setback.
Chapter 50 Section 5.70.A.6 – The applicants wish to construct a 7’ by 6’ detached pool accessory
structure 7’1” from their principle structure. The required distance separation is 10’.The applicant
was made aware that the City Commission adopted a policy in July of 2016 in which all separation
distance variances would be denied for properties over 5,000 square feet in size.

Standards for Review:
Per Section 5.103(c) of the City of East Grand Rapids Zoning Ordinance, the following criteria must
be met for a variance to be granted:
A. That special conditions or circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land, structure or
building involved and which are not generally applicable to other lands, structures or
buildings in the same district.
Staff comments: This corner lot is not different than the average corner lot in East Grand Rapids. A
large majority of the yard is covered by a pool and pavement around the pool. The pool and original
6’ fence were installed previous to when the applicants purchase the property.
B. That the special conditions or circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant.
Staff comments: The applicants did not create any of these special conditions or circumstances.
C. That authorizing a variance will not be of substantial detriment to the neighboring property
and will not be contrary to the spirit and purpose of this chapter.
Staff comments: Since the last fence ordinance amendment in 2014, no fence variance has been
approved. Also, approving the separation distance variance would be in direct opposition to the
policy passed by the City Commission in July of 2016.

_____________________________________
Brain Donovan, City Manager
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MEMORANDUM
TO:
FROM:
DATE:

Mayor and City Commissioners
Alek Mizikar, Zoning Administrator
August 27, 2018

RE:

Public Hearing on Rezoning Application for 2755 Hall Street SE
PPN: 41-14-34-378-016
Rezoning from partly R-1 and R-2 to completely R-2

Action Requested:
That the City Commission conduct a public hearing and vote on the rezoning request of Mariel Di
Musto-Poortenga to rezone her address of 2755 Hall Street SE from partly R-1 and R-2 to completely
R-2.
Background:
Mariel Di Musto-Poortenga has submitted an application to have her property at 2755 Hall Street SE
be rezoned to be completely within the R-2 Single Family Residential District. Currently, the
property is mostly zoned R-2; however, the northern 25 feet and the eastern 44 feet (approx.) are
zoned as R-1. This split in zoning is due to the fact that the zoning districts have followed the original
plat maps, and over time the property at 2755 Hall Street has acquired property on the north and east
sides which were zoned differently. The applicant now wishes to rezone her property so that the
entire property is within the R-2 Single Family Residential District. Her intent for this rezoning is to
be able to split her lot in to two (2) conforming R-2 lots. She is currently unable to split her lot with
the current zoning situation unless she applied for a variance. She is unable to apply for a variance to
create a non-conforming lot through a lot split because a similar request was already denied at this
property in 2005.
Location of Request:
2755 Hall Street is located on the north side of Hall Street just west of the Lake Drive and Hall Street
intersection. The property has approximately 183.3 feet of frontage and approximately 29,780 square
feet of area (maps included in agenda packet). This property straddles the Eastwood Estates and
Woodcliff Park Plats, containing parts of lots 5, 6, 11, and 12 of Eastwood Estates and part of lot 285
of Woodcliff Park (legal description in application).
Planning Commission Recommendation:
The Planning Commission voted to recommend that this rezoning request not be approved by the
City Commission.

Land Use and Zoning Requirements:
Dimensional Requirements
Lot Area* Lot Width Front Setback Rear Setback Side: Least
12,000
100 ft.
30 ft. or avg.
25 ft.
10 ft.
R-1
7,200
72 ft.
25 ft. or avg.
25 ft.
7 ft.
R-2
*Within first 100 feet of depth for R-2, and within the first 120 feet of depth for R-1

Site: Total
24 ft.
18 ft.

This property and the surrounding properties are all used for single family residential purposes. The
subject property is right on the border between the R-1 and R-2 Single Family Residential Districts.
The R-2 zoning district continues west of the subject property along Hall Street, and south of Hall
Street. The R-1 zoning district continues east of the subject property along Hall Street, and north past
Lake Drive. As you can see in the chart above, R-1 properties have larger lot requirements and larger
setback requirements than R-2 properties.
History:
This property has some important history relating to lot splits and rezoning. Below is a timeline
representing that history:
History of Requests at 2755 Hall Street
A zoning variance was denied by the City Commission to allow the creation of a
non-conforming lot through a lot split at 2755 Hall Street. Lot split was never
heard because the variance did not pass.
Feb. 14, 2006
A rezoning request is introduced to the Planning Commission similar to the one
now being proposed.
Mar. 14, 2006
The Planning Commission voted to not recommend that the proposed rezoning be
approved by the City Commission.
May 1, 2006
The City Commission voted to deny the rezoning request.
*(Memos and meeting minutes can be found in your agenda packet in chronological order)
Feb. 21, 2005

The current applicant has already submitted a land division application; however, a variance would
be needed to create a non-conforming lot since the majority of the new parcel would be in R-1. The
zoning ordinance has changed in regards to how you decide what zoning district to use in a case of
split zoning; however, the change in zoning rules still creates the same result. Since a variance was
already requested in 2005 and was denied, a similar variance is not allowed to be requested again.
However, the applicant is allowed to request for rezoning again, which she would then be able to
apply for a land division without the variance.
Surrounding Neighborhood:
When looking at the history of this property and the surrounding neighborhood, there are some
unique patterns that need to be taken into account. When the Eastwood Estates sub-division was
platted, both the lots on the north side of Hall Street and the south side of Lake Drive had the same
size width, with the lots on the south side of Lake Drive having more depth to them. These lot widths
were similar to the lot widths of the lots on the south side of Hall Street in the Lake Drive Estates
sub-division. However, the developmental patterns over time of the lots on the north side of Hall
Street in the Eastwood Estates sub-division mirror more the developmental patterns of the lots on the
south side of Lake Drive, rather than the lots on the south side of Hall Street in the Lake Drive
Estates sub-division. This developmental pattern of creating larger lots through lot splits and
consolidations has subsequently resulted in lots that now have more of the qualities of the R-1 zoning
district, rather than the R-2 zoning district. Pictures of the plat map are attached for your reference.

Standards for Review:
Per section 5.108.B of the City of East Grand Rapids Zoning Ordinance, the following four (4)
criteria must be met for a zoning map amendment to be approved:
1. Whether or not the proposed rezoning is consistent with the goals, policies and future land
use map of the City of East Grand Rapids Master Plan; or, if conditions have changed
significantly since the Master Plan was adopted, consistency with recent development trends
in the area.
Staff comments: The current master plan and future land use map show this area as being intended
for single family residential use. The proposed rezoning would be in alignment with the intended use
of the land.
2. Whether the proposed district and the uses allowed are compatible with the site’s physical,
geological, hydrological and other environmental features. The potential uses allowed in the
proposed zoning district shall also be compatible with surrounding uses in terms of land
suitability, impacts on the community, density, potential influence on property values and
traffic impacts.
Staff comments: If this rezoning is approved, the property would be eligible to be split and create two
conforming lots in the R-2 Single Family Residential District. As noted in the LSL memos in 2006,
this creation of a new single family home would not be compatible with the surrounding area. The
properties on the north side of Hall Street to the west of the subject property have lot widths of 142.5
feet, 143 feet, 100 feet, and 165 feet respectively. The splitting of the subject property would result in
two new parcels that would be significantly smaller than the properties on the same side of the street.
The house at 2820 Lake Drive is setback on Lake Drive so as to make its rear yard adjacent to the
side yard of 2755 Hall Street. The creation of a new single family home in between the subject
property’s house and the house at 2820 Lake Drive would result in three houses that would be all
relatively close together. However, the properties on the south side of Hall Street match more closely
the smaller lot sizes that would result from the subject property splitting.
3. Whether, if rezoned, the site is capable of accommodating the uses allowed, considering
existing or planned infrastructure including streets, sanitary sewers, storm sewer, water,
sidewalks, and street lighting.
Staff comments: If rezoned, the site is capable of accommodating single residential because it is
currently being used for single family residential. All necessary infrastructures are available for both
R-1 and R-2 uses.
4. Other factors deemed appropriate by the Planning Commission or City Commission.
Staff comments: Commissioners may establish any other factors that they deem appropriate for this
rezoning.
Attached to memo:

Memo review from City Planner Paul LeBlanc
Rezoning Application and submittal documents
Meeting minutes from previous variance and rezoning requests
Plat map references
Meeting minutes from July 10th and August 14th planning commission meeitngs

_____________________________________
Brain Donovan, City Manager

TO:
FROM:
DATE:
SUBJECT:

East Grand Rapids Planning Commission
Paul LeBlanc, AICP
July 13, 2018
2755 Hall Street Rezoning

Request
This is a request to rezone a portion of an existing single-family lot from R-1 to R-2.
Existing Conditions
The subject property, located on the
north side of Hall Street, west of the
Lake Drive intersection, is
approximately 31,565 sq. ft. in area
with 183 ft. of frontage. It is
currently occupied by a single-family
home and is surrounded by other
single-family homes.
Current zoning around the property is
R-1 to the north and east, while to
the west and along the south side of Hall Street it is R-2. Both districts allow single-family homes but
differ with respect to minimum dimensional requirements, as shown in the following table:
Table 5.28-1 Dimensional Requirements: Single Family Residential Districts
Requirement/District
Minimum area (sq. ft.)
Distance from street line in which minimum
area must be met (ft.)
Minimum lot width (ft.)
Front
Total
Minimum yard
Side
Least side
setback (ft.)
Adjoining a street
Rear

R-1
12,000

R-2
7,200

120

100

100
30
24
10
24
25

72
25
18
7
20
25

Existing lots along the north side of Hall Street differ significantly from those on the south side of the
street. The average lot size north of Hall in the vicinity of the subject property is 30,725 sq. ft., while on
the south side the lots are less than half the size, averaging 14,000 sq. ft. (see graphic on next page).

plbplanninggroup@gmail.com

616.581.3978

Review Criteria
Section 5.108 B of the Zoning Ordinance lists the criteria to be considered by the Planning Commission
as it reviews requests for map amendments (rezoning). These are:
1.

Whether or not the proposed rezoning is consistent with the goals, policies and future
land use map of the City of East Grand Rapids Master Plan; or, if conditions have
changed significantly since the Master Plan was adopted, consistency with recent
development trends in the area.

The request is to change the zoning from one single family district to another, removing the
current split zone. Therefore, the change would not alter the allowed uses on the property or be
inconsistent with the goals of the Master Plan. However, placing the entire lot within the R-2
District would open the potential to create a second lot. While such a split would conform to the
area and width requirements of the R-2 District, it would result in two, much smaller, lots
surrounded by lots of nearly a half-acre or larger. As noted above, the development trend on
the north side of Hall Street is considerably different from that on the south side of the street.
2.

Whether the proposed district and the uses allowed are compatible with the site’s
physical, geological, hydrological and other environmental features. The potential uses
allowed in the proposed zoning district shall also be compatible with surrounding uses in
terms of land suitability, impacts on the community, density, potential influence on
property values and traffic impacts.

Again, as noted above, the allowed uses would not change as a result of the rezoning.
Amending the zoning, however, would create the ability to divide the property, resulting in two
lots whose density is not consistent with that of all other lots abutting the subject site and for
some distance to the west along the north side of Hall Street.
3.

Whether, if rezoned, the site is capable of accommodating the uses allowed, considering
existing or planned infrastructure including streets, sanitary sewers, storm sewer, water,
sidewalks, and street lighting.

If rezoned, the existing lot could be divided to create two conforming R-2 lots. It is unlikely that
the potential addition of one more home in this area would negatively impact services.
4.

Other factors deemed appropriate by the Planning Commission or City Commission.

Two other common considerations in rezoning requests are:
• Whether the existing zoning allows a reasonable use of the property
The subject property is occupied by a single-family home now and is surrounded by other similarly
situated single-family homes. Therefore, the current zoning has not inhibited the use of the lot.
• Whether there has been a change in circumstances that warrants reconsideration of the zoning
There is no evidence that conditions have changed that would necessitate altering the zoning. The
subject property and the surrounding lots were developed many years ago. No incompatible
development has occurred in the area that would prompt reconsideration of the established zoning.
Recommendation
Based on the established character surrounding the subject property and the criteria of Section 5.108 B,
I recommend that the Planning Commission recommend denial of the R-2 rezoning request.
Other
I also note that the subject lot is not
the only one along Hall Street that is
split into two different zoning
districts. It would be possible to
R-2
R-1
rezone five lots, as shown on the
drawing below, from R-2 to R-1, to
eliminate the current zoning
irregularities without creating
nonconformities. Likewise, the four
lots west of these could be zoned
entirely R-2. This would establish a
more consistent zoning pattern and eliminate future confusion. While such a change could not be acted
on as part of the current request, it merits your consideration and could be initiated by the City at some
future date.

Woodcliff Park Plat Map

Eastwood Estates Plat Map

PROCEEDINGS OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION
CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
June 10, 2018
East Grand Rapids Community Center – Commission Chambers
Present: Chairman John Barbour, Commissioners John Arendshorst, Kevin Brant, Mary Mapes, Brian
Miller, Michael Naltner and Jeff Olsen
Absent: Commissioners Jeff Dills and Tom Getz
Also Present: Assistant City Manager Doug LaFave, City Zoning Administrator Alek Mizikar, City
Attorney John Huff and Recording Secretary Lynda Taylor
1. CALL TO ORDER
Chairman Barbour called the meeting to order at 5:33 PM.
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – May 22, 2018
A motion was made by Commissioner Miller and supported by Commissioner Mapes to approve the
minutes as written.
Yeas: Commissioners Arendshorst, Barbour, Brant, Mapes, Miller, Naltner and Olsen – 7
Nays: -0Chairman Barbour introduced and welcomed new Planning Commissioner Michael Naltner.
3. INTRODUCTION TO THE REZONING APPLICATION REQUEST FROM MARIEL DI MUSTOPOORTENGA FOR HER PROPERTY AT 2755 HALL STREET TO HAVE HER ENTIRE
PROPERTY REZONED TO R-2 SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL.
Chairman Barbour explained that this matter had been in front of the city before (2006-2007) and that
the new owner of the property has the right to make this application again. This is an introduction of
the request and a public hearing will be held at the next Planning Commission meeting on August 14,
2018.
Rick Polaski of Nederveld, Inc. spoke on behalf of the property owner Mariel Di Musto-Poortenga and
stated the following:
• The property is zoned both R1 and R2 and they believe it should be zoned R2.
• Hall Street is predominately R2.
• Lots across the street are conventional R2 size. 72 feet is the minimum requirement and7,200 sq.
ft. in size.
• Lots on the east side of Hall Street range from 75 to 85 ft. and are consistent with R2 lot size even
though some of them are zoned R1.
• Error in zoning map – shows the property as R2
Chairman Barbour asked for an explanation of the alleged error in the map. Mr. Pulaski responded
that inconsistency would be a better term to use. The property line that is touching the east border is
R1and the City map shows it R2.
Zoning Administrator Alek Mizikar said the map shows the parcel as not being completely R2. The
top section is R1 and the east section is showing R2. The east side of the property is R1 (Mr. Mizikar's
illustration is attached.)

Assistant City Manager Doug La Fave offered that the City's maps are produced by the Grand Valley
Metro Council's GIS organization, REGIS. All maps produced by them contain a disclaimer that says
in order to definitively know the accuracy, to see our additional information. He further stated that
when you look at the City's official record, or plat map, the property is located in both R1 and R2
zones. City Attorney John Huff added that the zoning district follows the plat maps and looking
closely at the parcel it shows that the east half of the parcel is in a different plat than the rest of the lot.
He said that a number of lots in the area had been combined. There are four lots to the west of the
subject parcel that are 100 ft. or larger with one as large as 140 ft. Commissioner Mapes commented
that the property owner had acquired additional property from a neighbor.
Commissioner Arendshorst asked when the acquisition happened. Chairman Barbour responded that it
had happened before the 2006-2007 review. There has been no change in status since that review.
Commissioners Olsen and Arendshorst commented on the LSL Planning memo from the previous
request in regard to compatibility and character of the neighborhood which had not been met.
Commissioner Olsen stated that it was a complex issue then and is one now. He added that the long
term or precedent problem any time someone has a property adjacent to another zoning district and
they acquire a sliver of it. Chairman Barbour responded that they would be analyzed one at a time and
would be a factor people might try and consider.
Commissioner Arendshorst asked if all the lots are bigger than they have to be, does this one have to
be bigger than it has to be as well?
Assistant City Manager La Fave said that the City Planner would provide a memo regarding the
request for the next meeting.
Commissioner Naltner asked if the current owners were aware of the two different zones when they
bought the home. Ms. Di Musto-Poortenga responded that they were aware to some degree.
Commissioner Mapes said that compatibility was the huge issue when the previous request was
presented and asked if the City Planner would talk about in their memo. Mr. La Fave said the Planners
would give their opinion and analysis. Commissioner Miller added that it would be helpful to have the
lot sizes of adjacent properties.
4. NEXT REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING – August 14, 2018
5. PUBLIC COMMENT
No public comment was given.
6. REPORT OF THE CITY COMMISSION
•
•
•

Commissioner Miller welcomed Commissioner Naltner.
The Master Plan was approved by the City Commission
2200 Griggs Street Project: City Commission unanimously voted to indicate that we would not
approve an access permit based on the plans that had been presented. The plans were not final so
the resolution was not binding; it was a guidance to the developer.

7. ADJOURNMENT
Chairman Barbour adjourned the meeting at 6:06 PM.
Respectfully submitted,
Lynda Taylor
Recording Secretary

PROCEEDINGS OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION
CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
August 14, 2018
East Grand Rapids Community Center – Commission Chambers
Present: Chairman John Barbour, Commissioners John Arendshorst, Kevin Brant, Jeff Dills, Tom Getz,
Mary Mapes, Michael Naltner and Jeff Olsen
Absent: Commissioner Brian Miller
Also Present: Assistant City Manager Doug LaFave, City Zoning Administrator Alek Mizikar, City
Planner Paul LeBlanc of PLB Planning Group, City Attorney John Huff and Recording Secretary Lynda
Taylor
1. CALL TO ORDER
Chairman Barbour called the meeting to order at 5:29 PM.
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – July 10, 2018
A motion was made by Commissioner Olsen and supported by Commissioner Mapes to approved the
minutes amended changing a reference to the east side of Hall Street to the south side.
Yeas: Commissioners Arendshorst, Barbour, Brant, Dills, Getz, Mapes, Naltner, Olsen - 8
Nays: -03. PUBLIC HEARING ON THE REZONING APPLICATION REQUEST OF MARIEL DI MUSTOPOORTENGA FOR HER PROPERTY AT 2755 HALL STREET TO HAVE HER ENTIRE
PROPERTY REZONED TO R-2 SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL.
City Planner Paul LeBlanc reviewed the rezoning request and explained the criteria for review from
Section 5.108B of the zoning ordinance. The three considerations are listed below.






Is it consistent with the Master Plan and consistent with recent development trends?
o If rezoned as proposed, the property will stay consistent with the City's Master Plan
because it will remain single family residential. Rezoning to R2 would open a
potential to create a second lot. A split would conform to the requirements of the R2
district, but it would result in two much smaller lots surrounded by lots of nearly a half
-acre or larger.
The potential uses allowed in the proposed zoning district shall also be compatible with
surrounding uses.
o Uses are the same for the most part – single family residential.
o There is a significant difference in terms of density on the north and south side of Hall
Street. Amending the zoning would create the ability to divide the property, resulting
in two lots whose density is not consistent with that of all other lots abutting the
subject site and for some distance to the west.
Is the property capable of accommodating the uses that are allowed?
o It is. There is a single family home there. The addition of one more home would not
tax the City's ability to provide services. From a traffic standpoint, the national
standard is that a single family home generates 10 trips per day, so the addition of one
more home would add potential of 10 more vehicles. There is no reason that would
strain the capability of Hall Street to handle traffic.

Mr. LeBlanc added that the ordinance also talks about consideration of other factors deemed
appropriate by the commission.
 Whether the existing zoning allows a reasonable use of the property.
o There is a home there now; existing zoning allows a reasonable use. There is nothing
in zoning or planning that says everyone is entitled to the maximum financial gain
from the use of their property. It is only a reasonable use of the property. There is
reasonable use there.
 Has there been a change in circumstances that warrant reconsideration?
o There have been no new developments or major changes to the zoning in the area.
Those criteria would not be satisfied.
Mr. LeBlanc stated that based on the facts presented, he recommended that the Planning Commission
recommend to the City Commission denial of the rezoning request.
In addition to the factors above, it was noted that the subject lot is not the only one on Hall Street with
two zoning districts. It would be possible to rezone five lots from R2 to R1 to eliminate current zoning
irregularities without creating nonconformities.
Commissioner Dills asked if rezoning the five lots would be consistent with what was done off
Argentina where 23 lots were rezoned. Mr. LeBlanc replied that it would.
Rick Pulaski of Nederveld, Inc. – the planner and engineer for Mariel Poortenga.
Mr. Pulaski stated that Ms. Poortenga had purchased the property fairly recently and gave some
background regarding the property and the rezoning request.




R2 is the dominant zoning along Hall street
The website zoning map shows the property zoned as R2. He said this map is used when
people purchase property and or to study what can be done to a property. This map was used
to create some drawings.
The R2 district is consistent from the westerly limits of the City almost to Lake Drive. At
Lake Drive a couple parcels touch Hall Street, but access is made from Lake Drive.

Commissioner Olsen asked if a disclaimer was on the map regarding accuracy. Chairman Barbour
responded that there was one. Mr. Pulaski added that all municipal maps have a disclaimer on them
but the average person would rely on the information as represented on the map.
Mr. Pulaski gave more information about the property
 The property is in a plat called Eastwood Estates which was recorded in 1940.
 The rezoning would make the property consistent with all the R2 lots and all the lots that have
driveways on Hall Street.
 If they got creative and finagled some things, they could get two lots fairly easily. The house
would have to be demolished, but it is something that could be done .
 Another potential to finagle the lot lines so that the majority of the property was in the R2
zone. He presented a drawing showing the lot line configuration.
 Ms. Poortenga talked to the majority of her neighbors and most were okay with the rezoning,
however a couple were opposed to it.
Mr. Pulaski concluded his presentation with the following statements for rezoning to R2:
 The fact that the zoning map of record that normal people look at showed the property as R2
 The lot has been in existence for a long time
 The lot being zoned R1 and R2 is not something Ms. Poortenga created
 They could make the lot R2 by robbing and finagling enough property
 They could demolish the home and create two lots
 Because of the above facts, they think it is a reasonable request and the lot should be zoned to
R2.

Chairman Barbour asked when the property was purchased by Ms. Poortenga. Commissioner Mapes
responded that it had been purchased on November 20, 2015.
Commissioner Getz asked if split, would both properties be zoned R2. Mr. Pulaski responded that
they would.
Brian Gill – 2760 Lake Drive, SE: Opposed (Correspondence was also received.)
 Backyard neighbors of the property.
 Grateful to hear arguments in support of rezoning and splitting the property, but the images
projected reinforced his concerns.
 Hearing the words rob and finagle says there is not an easy solution in terms of delivering a
result that is aesthetically please for the neighborhood and in the best interest of East Grand
rapids. The property as-is is very consistent with the triangle between Lake Drive and Hall
Street and with the houses on the north side of the street. A split would interrupt the visual
integrity and aesthetic beauty of the area.
 Dividing the property would make the lot very different from all the other lots around it
including those on the north side of Hall. The slope on the east side of the property would
have to be regraded to build a house.
 Utilities in front would have to be relocated
 If the request was a good idea, words like rob, finagle, regrade and relocated utilities would
not have to be used.
 The property is very good looking and is a beautifully renovated mid-century modern home.
 Asked that the Planning Commissioners err on the side of caution when making their decision.
Additional Correspondence received:
 Adam and Christine Panter – 2820 Lake Drive: Opposed
Chairman Barbour closed the public hearing.
4. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION FOR A RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY
COMMISSION
Assistant City Manager Doug LaFave offered that any Regis maps show a disclaimer. He showed that
the City Zoning Map on the City's website had been corrected. Mr. La Fave also presented the
development pattern of the original platted lots and showed how people had purchased portions of lots
to make larger lots on Hall Street and Lake Drive to be more of an R1 development pattern.
A motion was made by Commissioner Dills and supported by Commissioner Brant to approve
rezoning the entire parcel at 2755 Hall Street, S. E. to R2 Single Family Residential.
Commissioner Dills asked about the procedure to move platted lot lines or creating a new lot line
different from a plat. City Attorney Huff said that any land division needs to be approved by the City
Commission, even if it is to approve two conforming lots.
Mr. Huff added that in regard to the finagling issue, that it had been tried a number of times and has
never been successfully approved. The suggestion that the house could be removed and there would
be enough room for two lots is a valid statement, but anything short of that would be difficult because
you would have to look at it and come up with some kind of approval. The problem is the house is off
centered toward the east and doesn't leave sufficient space between the east property line and where
the house is with the setbacks.
Commissioner Comments are listed below.
Commissioner Arendshorst

Since the majority of the property is in R2, the fact that is has been underbuilt is a happy accident
for the neighbors.








They could demolish the house and build a house on the NE corner of the property which would
cause much concern for the neighbors as splitting the lot, but that would be permitted.
Not persuaded that splitting the lot and building an additional home would severely change the
character of the neighborhood.
Hall Street is entirely zoned R2 except for the two lots on the end that access Lake Drive.
Lots on the north side of Hall Street are a little underbuilt, but doesn't see that as a reason why
this lot needs to stay R1simply because the other neighbors have more space than necessary.
This mess is caused by an accident of historical lot splits, acquisitions and changing ownerships.
Would like to see this cleaned up so all lots are one zone and best was would be to make the lot
entirely R2, which is a reason to approve rezoning.

Commissioner Arendshorst left the meeting at 6:12 PM.
Commissioner Getz
 The request is to rezone the lot to R2 and has nothing to do with the lot split. That would be a
separate request. If this was rezoned to R2 and the Planning Commission recommended it, it
would still have to go to the City Commission to be actually rezoned R2 and then there would
have to be a separate request to split the lots. If there is a lot split request and both lots would be
conforming, those almost always go through. City Attorney Huff responded that this was a correct
statement.
Commissioner Brant
 R2 is the appropriate zoning for the street.
 An additional house would affect neighbors in a negative way
Commissioner Olsen
 Generally in favor of lot splits because a larger tax base is good for schools.
 Density keeps getting more and the City is losing open space at a rapid pace.
 Supports lot splits and recognizes that houses need to be refreshed, but there is open space and a
utility box on this lot and we don't know what the plan would be for that or the plan for grading.
 Struggling with the zoning map issue. Title work is done at closing and the issue has been in front
of the Planning Commission before and denied. Someone is astute enough to come in and get
their lot split presumably has enough awareness upon acquisition. The zoning map is not the
premise he would have used to articulate the presentation.
 Would be more in favor if someone wanted to come back with a plan showing how it would
workout with AT&T, the grading and a storm water plan.
 Need to make a decision with awareness of what is going to happen in the future.
Commissioner Dills
 Was on the Commission the last time this was requested.
 The slope of the property is a big concern if the lower lot is developed and a house goes in there
because each property owner's responsibility is to control the water off their property. It would
be a tough spot for someone to develop down below.
 Wants to maintain consistency to the west on the north side of Hall Street.
 Doesn't see rezoning a single property is in the best interest of our City. It wasn't done off of
Argentina and doesn't think it should be done here.
 If looking at a bigger picture and more properties were viewed, it would be a wiser decision. For a
single piece of property, not voting in favor.
Chairman Barbour
 Was involved in the previous rezoning decision on this lot.
 The new piece of information is that there may be a different technique for the owner to
accomplish rezoning which would involve demolishing the existing home .
 Will not be voting in favor of recommending rezoning.
Chairman Barbour requested a roll call vote be taken.
Olsen – No, Naltner – Yes, Brant – Yes, Dills – No, Getz – No, Mapes – No, Barbour – No

Yeas: 2
Nays: 5
Chairman Barbour added that the rezoning request would be going to the City Commission and
thanked the applicant and representative for their input and participation.
5. PUBLIC COMMENT
No public comment was received.
6. REPORT OF THE CITY COMMISSION
Assistant City Manager Doug LaFave reported the following:
 Taste of East will be held on Thursday, August 17 from 5:30 PM – 8:30 PM
 Criterion Bike Race will be held this weekend from 7:00 AM to 6:00 PM
 Breton Road construction is complete except for punch list items.
7. ADJOURNMENT
The meeting was adjourned at 6:26 PM.
8. NEXT REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING – September 11, 2018
Respectfully submitted,
Lynda Taylor
Recording Secretary

Adam and Christine Panter
2820 Lake Dr. SE, East Grand Rapids, MI 49506
p: 616-206-6155 e: AdamHPanter@Gmail.com

To Whom it May Concern,
This communication is in reference to the rezoning request made by Mariel Di MustoPoortenga for the property located at 2755 Hall Street SE. As Ms. Musto-Poortenga’s
neighbor (2820 Lake Drive SE) we feel that the request to rezone the property as R2 and
divide the property into two separate lots would negatively impact the city, our neighbors,
and our property.
One of the unique appeals of our great city is not only the incredible community, but within
that community is the diversity of lot sizes and historical homes not found in most areas.
Three of the four adjacent lots to the property; ours and the properties located at 2760 and
2740 Lake Drive SE are all zoned as R1. The property at 2755 Hall Street has a lot size that is
consistent with these 3 properties and the others that have been zoned R1 in EGR. There is
limited inventory of properties within our community that offer large private lot. Granting
this rezoning request would reduce that inventory.
As residents of EGR we were very patient when moving into the community as we desired a
home that would offer a private lot. Approving this rezoning request and the subsequent
property division would take that privacy away, which was the most appealing aspect of
our property when moving into this community.
In closing, one of the aspects that makes EGR so special is driving down streets like Hall and
Lake drive and observing the beautifully unique homes and properties. Approving rezoning
requests such as this will bring our amazing community a step closer to the many
surrounding sub-divisions that many residents came to EGR to avoid. Please consider the
neighbors and the community when reviewing this request.
Sincerely,

Adam and Christine Panter

CITY OF

EAST GRAND RAPIDS
750 LAKESIDE DRIVE SE • EAST GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN 49506
KAREN MUSHONG
FINANCE DIRECTOR

MEMORANDUM
TO:

Mayor and City Commissioners

FROM:

Karen Mushong

DATE:

September 25, 2018

RE:

Annual Audit

Action Requested: To accept an audit presentation by Mr. Peter Haefner of Vredeveld Haefner
LLC regarding the annual audit for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.
Background: Annually, after the completion of the audit, the engaged audit firm provides an
overview of the financial statements and happenings during the fiscal year. In addition, the audit
firm provides findings noted during the audit and the City responds to those findings. This year
there were no findings to report.
Attached is a copy of the Financial Statements and a Management Letter for your review.

_________________________
Brian Donovan, City Manager
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

September 21, 2018
Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Commission
City of East Grand Rapids, Michigan
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of East Grand Rapids,
Michigan, (the “City”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.
Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of East Grand Rapids, Michigan, as of June 30,
2018, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
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Specializing in services to governmental and nonprofit entities

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 8 and the information on pages 43 through 49 be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements and
schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements.
The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of management
and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion,
the combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules are fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 21,
2018, on our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
As management of the City of East Grand Rapids (the City), we offer readers of the City’s financial
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2018.

Financial Highlights
The financial statements, which follow this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, provide these
significant key financial highlights for the 2018 fiscal year as follows:
•
•
•
•

Significant road and sidewalk projects continue to be completed due to the passing of the
dedicated road and sidewalk millage in May of 2015. In the current fiscal year 3 miles of projects
were completed.
In the motor pool equipment replacement fund, $634,883 was invested in various vehicle and
equipment replacements.
Water and sewer rates were increased in the previous fiscal year to address the aging water
distribution mains and sanitary sewer collection systems. Capital expenditures of $892,961 were
spent in this fiscal year on water and sewer projects.
Payroll included 67 full-time and 12 part-time positions with total salary expenditures of
approximately $5,086,300.

Overview of the Financial Statements
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements.
The City’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) Government-wide financial
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains
other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.
Government-wide financial statements The Government-wide financial statements are designed to
provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector
business.
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the
difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise
to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g.,
uncollected revenues and earned but unused compensated absences).
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type
activities). The governmental activities of the City include legislative, general government, public safety,
public works, and recreation and culture. The business-type activities of the City include water and sewer
operations.
The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary
government), but also a legally separate Building Authority for which the City is financially accountable.
There was no current year activity in the Building Authority.
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Fund financial statements A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds,
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.
Governmental funds Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the governmentwide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows
of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal
year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a City’s near-term financing requirements.
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information
presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers
may better understand the long-term impact of the City’s near-term financing decisions. Both the
governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds
and governmental activities.
Information is presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the general fund and major streets
fund which are considered to be major funds. Data is combined into a single aggregated presentation for
the other governmental funds (non-major governmental funds). Individual fund data for each of the nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements and schedules.
The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund and all special revenue funds as required
by state law. Budgetary comparison schedules have been provided herein to demonstrate legal
compliance.
Proprietary funds The City maintains one enterprise fund. Enterprise funds are used to report the same
functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City uses
an enterprise fund to account for its water and sewer operation. Internal service funds are accounting
devices used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City’s various functions. The City
utilizes internal service funds to account for its motor pool and self insurance activities. Because these
services primarily benefit the City’s governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been
included within the governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only
in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide information for the water and sewer
operation, which is considered to be a major fund of the City. Conversely, internal service funds are
combined into a single, aggregate presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements.
Fiduciary funds Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the
resources of these funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for
fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.
Notes to the financial statements The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.
Other information In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also
presents certain required supplementary information. This is limited to this discussion and analysis, required
pension and OPEB information and major fund budget and actual presentations. Supplemental information
follows the required supplementary information and includes combining and individual fund statements and
schedules.
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Government-wide Financial Analysis
Statement of Net Position As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the
City’s financial position. In the case of the City, assets exceeded liabilities by $24,440,781 at the close of
the most recent fiscal year. The following chart illustrates the composition of net position.

Net Position
Governmental Activities
2017

Business-type Activities

2018

2017

Total

2018

2017

2018

Assets
Current and other assets

$ 7,487,103

$ 7,822,231

865,070

$ 1,150,665

$ 8,352,173

$ 8,972,896

26,089,239

26,691,285

10,491,597

10,897,151

36,580,836

37,588,436

33,576,342

34,513,516

11,356,667

12,047,816

44,933,009

46,561,332

1,265,926

1,142,976

15,163

21,363

1,281,089

1,164,339

1,834,055

2,041,383

321,385

344,672

2,155,440

2,386,055

20,724,723

20,011,303

75,795

82,665

20,800,518

20,093,968

22,558,778

22,052,686

397,180

427,337

22,955,958

22,480,023

697,979

779,667

27,948

25,200

725,927

804,867

Net investment in capital assets

16,876,604

17,956,801

10,491,597

10,897,151

27,368,201

28,853,952

Restricted
Unrestricted (deficit)

1,035,308
(6,326,401)

1,299,459
(6,432,121)

455,105

719,491

1,035,308
(5,871,296)

1,299,459
(5,712,630)

$11,585,511

$12,824,139

$10,946,702

$11,616,642

$22,532,213

$24,440,781

Long-term assets
Total assets

$

Deferred outflows of resources
Pension and OPEB related items
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources
Pension and OPEB related items
Net position

Total net position

The City’s unrestricted net position in governmental activities is in a deficit position as a result of recording
the net pension and net other post-employment benefits liabilities. Net investment in capital assets (e.g.,
land, buildings, machinery and equipment and infrastructure), less any related debt used to acquire those
assets that is still outstanding was $28,853,952 at the end of the current fiscal year. The City uses these
capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future
spending. Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be
noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital
assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. An additional portion of the City’s net position
in the amount of $1,299,459 represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may
be used.
Statement of Activities The City’s total revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, was $19,105,464
while total cost of all programs and services was $17,196,896. This resulted in an increase in net position
of $1,908,568. The following table presents a summary of the changes in net position for the years ended
June 30.
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Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities

Business-type Activities

2017

2018

2017

Total

2018

2017

2018

Revenues
Program revenues
Charges for services

$ 1,742,238

$ 1,860,594

$ 4,097,646

$ 4,173,752

$ 5,839,884

$ 6,034,346

Operating grants and contributions

965,237

1,151,240

-

190,946

965,237

1,342186

Capital grants and contributions

681,492

165,641

113,648

-

795,140

165,641

General revenues
Property taxes

10,065,668

10,262,194

-

-

10,065,668

10,262,194

State shared revenues

951,038

1,004,375

-

-

951,038

1,004,375

Cable franchise fees

224,575

217,300

-

-

224,575

217,300

Investment earnings

45,918

78,085

28

1,337

45,946

79,422

14,676,166

14,739,429

4,211,322

4,366,035

18,887,488

19,105,464

Total revenues
Expenses
Legislative

26,990

25,224

-

-

26,990

25,224

General government

1,913,394

1,944,106

-

-

1,913,394

1,944,106

Public safety

4,822,975

5,161,324

-

-

4,822,975

5,161,324

Public works

3,694,555

4,148,220

-

-

3,694,555

4,148,220

Culture and recreation

2,134,153

1,982,066

-

-

2,134,153

1,982,066

250,816

239,861

-

-

250,816

239,861

Interest on long-term debt
Water and sewer
Total expenses

-

-

3,205,608

3,696,095

3,205,608

3,696,095

12,842,883

13,500,801

3,205,608

3,696,095

16,048,491

17,196,896

1,833,283

1,238,628

1,005,714

669,940

2,838,997

1,908,568

68,284

-

(68,284)

-

-

-

1,901,567

1,238,628

937,430

669,940

2,838,997

1,908,568

Increase (decrease) in net position
before transfers
Transfers in (out)
Increase (decrease) in net position
Net position – beginning
Net position – ending

9,683,944

11,585,511

10,009,272

10,946,702

19,693,216

22,532,213

$11,585,511

$12,824,139

$10,946,702

$11,616,642

$22,532,213

$24,440,781

Governmental Activities The preceding table shows that the governmental activities increased the City’s
net position by $1,238,628 during this fiscal year. The increase is the result of significant capital additions
that will be depreciated (expensed) in future years.
Business-type Activities Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $669,940 during the
year. This is a result of a rate increase as well as an increase in usage of both water and sewage treatment
service.

Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
legal requirements.
Governmental funds The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a City’s
net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.
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As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund
balances of $5,113,409, an increase of $304,539 from the prior year, which is primarily due to revenues in
excess of expenditures in the major and local street funds.
The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, nonspendable
fund balance of $53,661 relates to prepaid assets, committed fund balance of $415,000 relates to future
activities committed to by the Board and assigned fund balance of $330,000 relates to subsequent year
expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents $2,979,241 of total fund balance. As a measure of the
general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare unassigned fund balance to total fund expenditures.
Unassigned fund balance represents 25.7% of total general fund expenditures and transfers out.
The Major Street Funds is used to account for the receipt and expenditure of fuel and weight taxes,
distributed by the State of Michigan, that are restricted for use on major streets by Act 51. The fund balance
increased by $88,325 during the current fiscal year leaving a remaining fund balance of $485,926.
The Local Street Funds is used to account for the receipt and expenditure of fuel and weight taxes,
distributed by the State of Michigan, that are restricted for use on local streets by Act 51. The fund balance
increased by $91,725 during the current fiscal year leaving a remaining fund balance of $625,161.
Proprietary funds The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.
The City’s enterprise operation consists of the water and sewer fund which provides services to most
residents and businesses of the City. This fund experienced an increase in net position of $669,940 as
discussed under business-type activities above.

Budgetary Highlights
Revenues and transfers in in the General Fund were approximately $11,653,600 which is 100.3% of the
$11,610,200 amended budgeted amount for the fiscal year. Property tax revenue was $8,335,200 or 99.9%
collected of the original tax roll.
Expenditures in the General Fund were approximately $11,594,700 or 97.8% of the amended budgeted
amount of $11,860,200. The budget was amended to use $250,000 of fund balance for the year; however,
the actual results will add approximately $53,800 into unrestricted fund balance which is made up of savings
throughout various departments.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration
Capital assets The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as
of June 30, 2018, amounted to $37,588,436 (net of accumulated depreciation). Of this amount, $26,691,285
was for its governmental activities and $10,897,151 for its business-type activities. This investment in
capital assets includes land, buildings, equipment and vehicles, and infrastructure.
Current year additions included various equipment and several road projects.
Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note 6 to the financial statements.
Long-term debt At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total long-term liabilities outstanding of
$20,093,968. Of this amount, $8,734,484 was for governmental activities debt; $9,212,341 related to the
net pension liability and $2,147,143 related to the liability for other post-employment benefits.
The City issued two installment purchase agreements totaling $209,500 and made payments on long-term
debt of $679,775 during the current fiscal year.
Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note 9 to the financial statements.
The net pension liability decreased $406,843 while the net OPEB liability increased $178,444.
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates
The following economic factors were considered in preparing the City’s budget for the 2019 fiscal year:
•

•
•
•
•

The General Fund expenditure budget for next year is $277,100 more than last fiscal year’s amended
budgeted amount. Budgeted revenues are less than budgeted expenditures by $330,000. General
Fund unrestricted ending balance for the year ending June 30, 2019 is budgeted at 22.9% of
expenditures including transfers.
Property taxes, which comprise 73.5% of the General Fund budget, were increased by 3.05% in the
June 30, 2019 budget. This is due to an overall assessed value increase of 3.2% and a taxable value
increase of 5.1%.
Due to an increase of taxable value over the inflation rate of 2.1%, a rollback of the City millage
resulted. The General Fund budget for the year ended June 30, 2019 budget contains a property tax
levy of 12.4331, which is the maximum available under the Headlee Amendment.
The estimated tax funding dedicated to roads and sidewalks for the year ended June 30, 2019 is
$1,245,000. Capital projects are planned for the dedicated road and sidewalk millage totaling 3.46
miles of roadwork.
The budget continues to address the aging water distribution mains and sanitary sewer collection
systems. A total of $870,000 will be spent for the upgrade and replacement of water mains and
$246,000 for upgrades related to the sanitary sewer system for the year ending June 30, 2019.

Requests for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all those with an
interest in the City’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the City Finance Director, City of East
Grand Rapids, 750 Lakeside Drive SE, East Grand Rapids, MI 49506.
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2018
Primary Government
Governmental Business-Type
Activities
Activities
Assets
Cash and pooled investments
Accounts receivable
Internal balances
Due from other governments
Inventory
Prepaid and other assets
Capital assets
Land
Construction in progress
Depreciable capital assets, net

$

6,843,316
367,379
18,681
401,934
81,369
109,552

$

572,130 $
547,605
(18,681)
47,488
2,123

Total
7,415,446
914,984
401,934
128,857
111,675

2,144,700
62,467
24,484,118

10,897,151

2,144,700
62,467
35,381,269

34,513,516

12,047,816

46,561,332

609,450
533,526

21,363

609,450
554,889

1,142,976

21,363

1,164,339

1,133,835
568,480
39,357
299,711

304,833
20,765
19,074

1,438,668
589,245
39,357
318,785

2,064,478
9,212,341
762,173
7,972,311

82,665
-

2,147,143
9,212,341
762,173
7,972,311

22,052,686

427,337

22,480,023

Deferred inflows of resources
Pension related
OPEB related

150,312
629,355

25,200

150,312
654,555

Total deferred outflows of resources

779,667

25,200

804,867

17,956,801

10,897,151

28,853,952

Total assets
Deferred outflows of resources
Pension related
OPEB related
Total deferred outflows of resources
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue
Compensated absences
Noncurrent liabilities
Net other post-employment benefits liability
Net pension liability
Debt due within one year
Debt due in more than one year
Total liabilities

Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for
Streets
Public safety
Debt service
Unrestricted (deficit)

1,180,004
82,502
36,953
(6,432,121)

Total net position

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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12,824,139

719,491
$

11,616,642

1,180,004
82,502
36,953
(5,712,630)
$

24,440,781

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

FunctionsI Programs
Primary government
Governmental activities
Legislative
General government
Public safety
Public works
Parks and recreation
Interest on long-term debt
Total governmental activities
Business-type activities
Water and sewer
Total primary government

Expenses
$

25,224
1,944,106
5,161,324
4,148,220
1,982,066
239,861

Program Revenues
Operating
Capital
Charges
Grants and
Grants and Net (Expense)
for Services Contributions Contributions
Revenue
$

501,820
44,955
171,469
1,142,350
-

$

4,739
1,146,501
-

$

81,790
69,677
14,174
-

13,500,801

1,860,594

1,151,240

165,641

3,696,095

4,173,752

190,946

-

$ 17,196,896

$

6,034,346

$

1,342,186

$

165,641

$

(25,224)
(1,360,496)
(5,041,953)
(2,830,250)
(825,542)
(239,861)
(10,323,326)

668,603
$

(9,654,723)
(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type
Activities
Activities

Changes in net position
Net (expense) revenue

$ (10,323,326) $

668,603

$

Total
(9,654,723)

General revenues
Property taxes
State shared revenues
Cable franchise fees
Unrestricted investment earnings

10,262,194
1,004,375
217,300
78,085

1,337

10,262,194
1,004,375
217,300
79,422

Total general revenues and transfers

11,561,954

1,337

11,563,291

1,238,628

669,940

1,908,568

11,585,511

10,946,702

22,532,213

$ 12,824,139

$ 11,616,642

$ 24,440,781

Change in net position
Net position, beginning of year
Net position, end of year

(concluded)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

11

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2018

Assets
Cash and pooled investments
Accounts receivable
Due from other governments
Inventory
Prepaid items
Total assets
Liabilities and fund balances
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Due to other funds
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue

Major
Streets

General

Special
Revenue

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Local
Streets

Total

$

3,994,330
174,443
228,978
53,661

$

588,124
125,577
15,901
2,123

$

1,117,014
47,379
15,901
2,123

$

180,047
53,618
-

$

5,879,515
228,061
401,934
31,802
57,907

$

4,451,412

$

731,725

$

1,182,417

$

233,665

$

6,599,219

$

301,947
98,483
206,223
39,357

$

230,670
6,929
8,200
-

$

542,127
6,929
8,200
-

$

36,745
-

$

1,111,489
112,341
222,623
39,357

Total liabilities

646,010

245,799

557,256

36,745

1,485,810

53,661

15,901
2,123

15,901
2,123

-

31,802
57,907

27,500

467,902
-

607,137
-

104,965
82,502
9,453

1,180,004
82,502
36,953

Fund balances
Nonspendable
Inventory
Prepaid items
Restricted
Streets
Public safety
Debt service
Committed
Turf replacement
Assigned
Subsequent year expenditures
Unassigned

415,000

-

-

-

415,000

330,000
2,979,241

-

-

-

330,000
2,979,241

Total fund balances

3,805,402

485,926

625,161

196,920

5,113,409

Total liabilities and fund balances

$

4,451,412

$

731,725

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1,182,417

$

233,665

$

6,599,219

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
RECONCILIATION OF FUND BALANCE ON THE BALANCE SHEET
FOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO NET POSITION OF
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES ON THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2018
Fund balances - total governmental funds

$

5,113,409

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
are different because
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the funds.
Add - land
Add - construction in progress
Add - capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation)

2,144,700
62,467
22,187,423

Deferred inflows and outflows relate to future years and are not reported in the funds
Add - deferred outflows from pension related items
Deduct - deferred inflows from pension related items
Add - deferred outflows from OPEB related items
Deduct - deferred inflows from OPEB related items

609,450
(150,312)
533,526
(629,355)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of centralized
services, to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds
are included in the governmental activities.
Add - net position of governmental activities accounted for in the internal service funds

3,308,157

Certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are
not reported in the funds.
Deduct - compensated absences payable
Deduct - net other post-employment benefit liability
Deduct - net pension liability
Deduct - long-term debt
Deduct - accrued interest on bonds payable

(286,529)
(2,064,478)
(9,212,341)
(8,734,484)
(57,494)

Net position of governmental activities

$ 12,824,139

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Revenues
Taxes
Intergovernmental revenues
State
Local
Licenses and permits
Charges for services
Recreation
Fines
Rentals
Investment earnings
Other

General
$

Total revenues
Expenditures
Current
Legislative
General government
Public safety
Public works
Parks and recreation
Debt service
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

8,335,190

$

Net changes in fund balances
Fund balances, beginning of year
$

-

$

-

$

Total

1,927,004

$ 10,262,194

766,381
1,068
1,089

380,120
2,351
-

69,677
2,754
64,643

2,171,613
69,677
65,312
611,503
1,142,350
28,957
40,425
70,611
196,558

11,444,113

768,538

382,471

2,064,078

14,659,200

25,224
1,600,759
5,073,657
2,047,617
1,852,485

1,314,879
-

1,271,491
-

31,166
431,865
-

25,224
1,600,759
5,104,823
5,065,852
1,852,485

-

-

-

672,000
243,018

672,000
243,018

10,599,742

1,314,879

1,271,491

1,378,049

14,564,161

686,029

95,039

(546,341)

(889,020)

896,331
(261,665)

980,745
-

431,665
(1,047,076)

(790,500)

634,666

980,745

(615,411)

209,500

53,871

88,325

91,725

70,618

304,539

3,751,531

397,601

533,436

126,302

4,808,870

209,500
(1,000,000)

Total other financing sources (uses)

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Local
Streets

1,025,112
65,312
611,503
1,142,350
28,957
40,425
64,438
130,826

844,371

Other financing sources (uses)
Issuance of long-term debt
Transfers in
Transfers out

Fund balances, end of year

Major
Streets

Special
Revenue

3,805,402

$

485,926

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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625,161

$

196,920

209,500
2,308,741
(2,308,741)

$

5,113,409

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds

$

304,539

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of those assets are allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
Add - capital outlay
Add - donated land
Deduct - depreciation expense
Deduct - net book value of disposed capital assets

2,330,797
20,700
(1,924,135)
(7,547)

Bond or note proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds in the period
issued, but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.
Repayment of bond or note principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the
repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.
Deduct - issuance of debt
Add - principal payments on debt
Add - amortization of bond premium

(209,500)
679,775
7,876

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the funds.
Deduct - increase in compensated absences
Add - decrease in net pension liability
Deduct - increase in net other post-employment benefits liability
Deduct - decrease in deferred outflows
Add - decrease in deferred inflows
Add - decrease in accrued interest

(37,155)
406,843
(171,574)
(273,262)
68,624
3,157

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain services
to individual funds. The net revenue (expense) of the internal service funds is
reported with governmental activities.
Add - increase in net position of the internal service funds
Change in net position of governmental activities

39,490
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1,238,628

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2018

Enterprise
Fund
Water and
Sewer

Assets
Current assets
Cash and pooled investments
Accounts receivable
Due from other funds
Prepaid and other assets
Inventory

$

Total current assets

572,130
547,605
2,123
47,488

Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service
Funds
$

963,801
139,318
135,355
51,645
49,567

1,169,346

1,339,686

10,897,151

2,296,695

12,066,497

3,636,381

21,363

-

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Due to other funds
Compensated absences

304,833
20,765
18,681
19,074

22,346
288,363
4,333
13,182

Total current liabilities

363,353

328,224

82,665

-

446,018

328,224

25,200

-

10,897,151
719,491

2,296,695
1,011,462

Capital assets
Depreciable capital assets, net
Total assets
Deferred outflows of resources
OPEB related items

Long-term liabilities
Net other post-employment benefits liability
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources
OPEB related items
Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

$ 11,616,642

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

3,308,157

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Enterprise
Fund
Water and
Sewer

Operating revenue
Charges for services
Other

$

Total operating revenue
Operating expense
Personnel services
Contractual services
Materials and supplies
Equipment
Claims
Administration
Depreciation
Miscellaneous
Total operating expense

4,094,300
79,452

Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service
Funds
$

2,283,264
91,125

4,173,752

2,374,389

672,348
275,179
992,891
184,171
268,210
487,407
815,889

209,406
479,326
241,013
5,460
811,422
258,691
436,029
421

3,696,095

2,441,768

Operating income (loss)

477,657

(67,379)

Non-operating revenue (expense)
Gain on sale of capital assets
State grant
Investment earnings

190,946
1,337

99,395
7,474

Total non-operating revenue (expense)

192,283

106,869

Changes in net position

669,940

39,490

10,946,702

3,268,667

Net position, beginning of year
Net position, end of year

$ 11,616,642

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

3,308,157

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Enterprise
Fund
Water and
Sewer

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from internal services provided
Receipts from customers and users
Payments to employees
Payments to suppliers

$

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service
Funds

- $
4,321,972
(673,575)
(2,506,089)
1,142,308

2,312,522
(208,385)
(1,812,403)
291,734

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
State grant
Acquisitions of capital assets

190,946
(892,961)

116,018
(634,883)

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities

(702,015)

(518,865)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest income

1,337

Net increase (decrease) in cash and pooled investments

441,630

Cash and pooled investments, beginning of year

130,500

Cash and pooled investments, end of year
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Depreciation
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred inflows of resources
Change in operating assets and liabilities which provided (used) cash
Accounts receivable
Due from other funds
Prepaid and other assets
Inventory
Accounts payable
Due to other funds
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue
Compensated absences
Net other post-employment benefits liability
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
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(219,657)
1,183,458

$

572,130 $

963,801

$

477,657 $

(67,379)

487,407
(6,200)
(2,748)

436,029
-

148,220
1,743
7,202
22,436
(1,130)
(3,643)
4,494
6,870

(51,228)
(10,674)
(8,347)
4,512
8,947
35
(8,899)
(12,341)
1,079
-

1,142,308 $

291,734

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

7,474

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION/BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2018
Other
Post-employment
Benefit
Trust
Assets
Cash and pooled investments
Investments

$

Agency
Fund

1,362,642

$

9,379
-

1,362,642

$

9,379

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Due to other governmental units

18,301
-

$

9,379

Total liabilities

18,301

$

9,379

Total assets

Net position
Held in trust for other post-employment benefits

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1,344,341

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
FIDUCIARY FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
Other
Post-employment
Benefit
Trust

Additions
Contributions:
Employer
Other
Stop loss reimbursement
Investment earnings

$

230,581
102,499
19,662
51,089

Total Additions

403,831

Deductions
Benefits
Administrative expenses

350,732
4,326

Total deductions

355,058

Net increase

48,773

Net position, beginning of year

1,295,568

Net position, end of year

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1,344,341

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies of the City of East Grand Rapids, Michigan (the “City”) conform to generally
accepted accounting principles as applicable to governments. The following is a summary of the
significant policies.
Reporting Entity
These financial statements present the City and its component units, entities for which the City is
considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units, although legally separate entities
are, in substance, part of the City’s operations, so data from these units are combined with data of the
primary government. Discretely presented component units are reported in a separate column in the
financial statements to emphasize they are legally separate from the City. The City has no discretely
presented component units.
Blended Component Unit
The Building Authority is governed by a board appointed by the City Commission. For financial
reporting purposes, the Building Authority is reported as if it were a part of the City’s operations
because its sole purpose is to finance and construct the City’s public buildings. The Building
Authority had no activity during the year.
Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of
activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its
component units. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are changes between enterprise functions and other various
functions of the government. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program
revenues reported for the various functions concerned. Governmental activities, which normally are
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type
activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. Likewise, the primary
government is reported separately from certain legally separate component units for which the primary
government is financially accountable.
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function
or segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with
a specific function or segment. Program revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants who
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or
segment and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary
funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns
in the fund financial statements.
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CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial
statements, except for agency funds which do not have a measurement focus. Revenues are recorded
when earned and expenses are recorded when liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related
cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants
and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the
provider have been met.
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon
as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For
this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of
the end of the current fiscal period, except for reimbursement-based grants, state shared revenue and
interest which use a one year collection period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is
incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures
related to compensated absences, pension and OPEB liabilities, and claims and judgments, are
recorded only when payment is due. Property taxes, state revenue, grants, licenses, and interest
associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have
been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be
measurable and available only when cash is received by the City.
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods
in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues
of the enterprise fund are charges for services. The principal operating revenues of the City’s internal
service funds are charges to City departments for repairs and equipment utilization and insurance
coverage. Operating expenses for the enterprise funds include depreciation on capital assets, labor,
supplies and contracted services. Operating expenses for the internal funds include the cost of services
(including claims), administration expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
The City reports the following major governmental funds:
The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all financial
resources, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
The Major Streets Fund accounts for funds specifically intended for the maintenance and
construction of major streets. Financing is provided from Public Act 51 State Shared Gas and
Weight Tax and transfers from the City’s municipal street millage fund.
The Local Streets Fund accounts for funds specifically intended for the maintenance and
construction of local streets. Financing is provided from Public Act 51 State Shared Gas and Weight
Tax and transfers from the City’s municipal street millage fund.
The City reports the following major proprietary fund:
The Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund is used to account for the operations of the City’s sewer
and water department that provides sewer and water services on a user charge basis.
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Additionally, the City reports the following fund types:
The Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources
(other than permanent trusts or major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures for
specified purposes.
The Debt Service Funds are used to account for resources accumulated and payments made for
principal and interest on long-term debt of governmental funds.
The Internal Service Funds are used to account for equipment and vehicle purchases, repairs and
maintenance and claims and benefits services provided to the City departments on a cost
reimbursement basis.
The Other Post-employment Benefits Trust Fund is used to account for the operations of the City
other post-employment benefits plan which provides other post-employment benefits to the City’s
employees.
The Agency Fund is used to account for the collection and disbursement of funds that are collected
on behalf of outside governments or other parties.
Budgets and Budgetary Accounting
Comparisons to budget are presented for the general and special revenue funds. General and special
revenue funds adopt a legal budget with remaining funds maintaining budgets as a management control
device. The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial
statements:
1. Prior to May 1, the City Manager submits to the City Commission a proposed operating budget for
the fiscal year commencing the following July 1.
2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.
3. By June 30th the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution.
4. Formal budgetary integration is employed for the governmental fund types as a management
control device.
5. Budgets for the general and special revenue funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end.
6. Adoption and amendments of all budgets used by the City are governed by Michigan state law.
The appropriations resolution is based on the projected expenditure budgets of the department
heads of the City. Any amendment to the original budget must meet the requirements of Michigan
law. Any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any department must be approved by the City
Commission. The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within an activity
subject to the condition that the total expenditures do not exceed the approved appropriations for
each fund. The Commission approves the annual budget at the activity level. Supplemental
appropriations were necessary during the year.
Cash and Pooled Investments
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the City considers cash and pooled investments to be
cash and cash equivalents because the pooling of these balances allows for withdrawal at any time
similar to a demand deposit account.
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Investments
Investments are stated at fair value at the balance sheet date.
City investment policy allows for all investments authorized by State statutes. State statutes authorize
the City to invest in:
a. Bond, securities, other obligations and repurchase agreements of the United States, or an
agency or instrumentality of the United States.
b. Certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit accounts or depository receipts of a qualified
financial institution.
c.

Commercial paper rated at the time of purchase within the two highest classifications
established by not less than two standard rating services and that matures not more than 270
days after the date of purchase.

d. Bankers’ acceptances of United States banks.
e. Obligations of the State of Michigan and its political subdivisions that, at the time of purchase
are rated as investment grade by at least one standard rating service.
f.

Mutual funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 with the authority to
purchase only investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by a public corporation.

g. External investment pools as authorized by Public Act 20 as amended.
h. The City OPEB plan is also allowed to invest in corporate debt and equity securities.
Receivables/Due from Other Governments
All receivables are recorded at their gross value and, where appropriate, are reduced by the estimated
portion that is expected to be uncollectible. Uncollectible balances are immaterial to the financial
statements.
Prepaid and Other Assets
Certain payments to vendors represent costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded
as prepaid and other assets in both the government-wide and fund financial statements.
Inventory
All inventories are valued at original cost using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method. Inventory represents
parts, materials, and supplies utilized in the various City operations.
Capital Assets
Capital assets, which include land, construction in progress, buildings, vehicles and equipment, and
infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the
governmental and business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements.
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Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than
$5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of two years. Such assets are valued at cost where
historical records are available and at estimated historical cost where no historical records exist.
Donated capital assets are valued at acquisition value (the price that would be paid to acquire an asset
with an equivalent service potential in an orderly market transaction) on the date received.
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend asset lives are not capitalized. Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the
remaining useful lives of the related capital assets, as applicable.
No interest expense has been incurred or capitalized on capital assets reported in proprietary funds.
Depreciation on capital assets (including infrastructure) is computed using the straight-line method over
the following estimated useful lives:
Years
Water and Sewage Systems
20-50
Buildings and improvements
10-35
Vehicles and equipment
4-20
Infrastructure
5-20
Unearned/Unavailable Revenue
Governmental funds report unavailable revenue in connection with receivables for revenues that are
not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period and unearned revenue for
resources that have been received, but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, the
unavailable revenue reported in the general fund consisted of fees received in advance.
Pensions
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense; information about the fiduciary net position of
the Municipal Employees Retirement System (MERS) of Michigan and additions to/deductions from
MERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by MERS.
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
Compensated Absences
Under contracts negotiated with employee groups and personnel policy, individual employees have a
vested right to receive payments for unused vacation and other compensation depending on
employment agreements. Accumulated compensated absences of governmental funds are recorded
on the statement of net position and not on the governmental fund balance sheets because the balance
is not expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources. Amounts accumulated
for proprietary funds are reported on the statements of net position of the individual enterprise funds.
Compensated absences reported for governmental activities are primarily liquidated from general fund
resources. The balances of compensated absences are all considered current liabilities at year-end.
Long-Term Obligations
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements,
the long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statements of net position.
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Where applicable, bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds
using the straight line method which approximates the effective interest method.
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums, discounts and
issuance costs in the year of issuance. The face amount of debt issued and any premiums received
are reported as other financing sources. Discounts on debt issuances are reported as an other financing
use. Issuance costs are reported as expenditures.
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/ expenditure) until then. The City has items that are
reported in this category related to the pension as discussed in note 7 as well as OPEB items as
discussed in note 8.
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources,
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized
as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has items reported in this category related
to OPEB items as discussed in note 8.
Fund Equity
Governmental funds report fund balance in the following five categories:
1. Non-spendable – the related asset’s form does not allow expenditure of the balance. The
assets are either (a) not in a spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be
maintained intact. Nonspendable fund balance would be equal to inventory, prepaid items, noncurrent financial assets, and the nonspendable portion of endowments.
2. Restricted – the related assets can only be spent for the specific purposes stipulated by
constitution, external resource providers, or as identified in enabling legislation.
3. Committed – the related assets can only be spent for a specific purpose identified by formal
resolution of the governing board.
4. Assigned – the related assets can only be spent for a specific purpose identified by
management as authorized by the governing board.
5. Unassigned – is the residual classification and includes all spendable amounts not contained
in the other classifications.
Fund balance can only be committed by resolution of the City Commission. The City Commission has
delegated the authority to assign fund balance to the City Manager.
The City’s policy requires the general fund to maintain between 20% and 25% of budgeted expenditures
in unassigned fund balance.
Net Position and Fund Balance Flow Assumptions
Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted
bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as
restricted – net position/fund balance and unrestricted – net position/fund balance, a flow assumption
must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the
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government’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.
Further, when the components of unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same purpose,
committed fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance
is applied last.
Property Taxes
City property taxes are attached as an enforceable lien on property as of July 1. Taxes are levied July
1 and are due without penalty on or before August 14. Tax bills include the City’s own property taxes
and taxes billed on behalf of other taxing units. Real property taxes not collected as of March 1 are
turned over to the County for collection, which advances the City 100% of the delinquent real property
taxes. Collection of delinquent personal property taxes remains the responsibility of the City Treasurer.
Taxes collected on behalf of other taxing units are accounted for in the agency funds. Property taxes
levied in July of each year are recognized as revenue in the year in which they are levied.
Interfund Transactions
During the course of normal operations, the City has numerous transactions between funds.
Transactions that constitute reimbursement to a fund for expenditures/expenses initially made from it
that are properly applicable to another fund, are recorded as expenditures/expenses in the reimbursing
fund and as a reduction of expenditures/expenses in the fund that is reimbursed. Changes between
enterprise funds and other functions of the City are not reimbursements because elimination of these
charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions
concerned. Remaining transactions are generally reflected as transfers.
2. DEFICIT NET POSITION
At June 30, 2018, the City reported a deficit unrestricted net position in its governmental activities of
$6,432,121.
3. EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS IN BUDGETARY FUNDS
PA. 621 of 1978, as amended, provides that a local unit shall not incur expenditures in excess of the
amount appropriated.
In the body of the financial statements, the City’s actual expenditures and budgeted expenditures for
the budgetary funds have been shown at the functional level. The approved budgets of the City for
these budgetary funds were adopted at the activity level. During the current year, the City incurred
expenditures in certain budgetary funds which were in excess of the amounts appropriated as follows:
Budget

General Fund
Public works
Zoning administration
Street lighting
Waste collection
Lake restoration

$162,900
88,500
418,200
12,100

27

Actual
$164,067
88,533
422,898
12,470

Variance
(Unfavorable)
$(1,167)
(33)
(4,698)
(370)
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4. CASH AND INVESTMENTS
The captions on the financial statements relating to cash and pooled investments and investments
are as follows:
Primary
Government
Cash and pooled investments
Investments

Fiduciary
Funds

Total

$7,415,446
-

$
9,379
1,362,642

$7,424,825
1,362,642

$7,415,446

$1,372,021

$8,787,467

The cash and investments making up the above balances are as follows:
Deposits
Investments
Petty cash

$4,874,582
3,912,285
600

Total

$8,787,467

The deposits are in financial institutions located in Michigan in varying amounts. State policy limits the
Treasurer’s investing options to financial institutions located in Michigan. All accounts are in the name
of the City and a specific fund or common account. They are recorded in City records at fair value.
Interest is recorded when earned.
Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits. Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the
City’s deposits may not be returned. State law does not require, and the City does not have, a policy
for deposit custodial credit risk. As of June 30, 2018, $2,053,347 of the City’s bank balance of
$4,803,347 was exposed to custodial credit risk because the balance was uninsured and
uncollateralized.
Investments
The City chooses to disclose its investments by specifically identifying each. As of year-end, the City
had the following investments:
Governmental activities
Kent County Investment Pool
Other Post-employment Benefits Trust Fund
VT II VP Milestone Ret. Income collective
investment trust (CIT)
Total

Maturity

Fair Value

Rating

N/A

$2,549,643

Unrated

N/A

1,362,642

Unrated

$3,912,285

The City categorizes its fair value measurements of investments within the fair value hierarchy
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs
used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant
unobservable inputs.
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The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of year-end.
•

The City does not have any investments valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs).

•

The VT II VP Milestone CIT and the Kent County Pool investments are valued using a pricing
model utilizing observable fair value measures of fund/pool investments and other observable
inputs to determining the fair value of the securities making up the of investments fund/pool
(Level 2 inputs).

•

The City does not have any investments that report fair value based on significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3 inputs).

The aforementioned investments do not include certificates of deposit which are classified as deposits
for risk identification purposes.
Investment and deposit risk
Interest Rate Risk. State law and City policy limit the allowable investments and the maturities of some
of the allowable investments as identified in Note 1, the summary of significant accounting policies. The
City’s investment policy does not have specific limits in excess of state law on investment maturities as
a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. There is
no stated maturity date for the City’s investments identified above.
At June 30, 2018 the balance of the Kent County Public Funds Investment Pool consisted of the
following:
Investment
Government agency securities
Certificates of deposits
Deposits, money markets and other pools

Percentage of pool total
18%
67%
15%

Maturity in years
0-3
0-2
Not applicable

Credit Risk. State law limits investments to specific government securities, certificates of deposits and
bank accounts with qualified financial institutions, commercial paper with specific maximum maturities
and ratings when purchased, bankers acceptances of specific financial institutions, qualified mutual
funds, qualified external investment pools and other investments as identified in Note 1, the summary
of significant accounting policies. The investment policy does not have specific limits in excess of state
law on investment credit risk. The rating for each investment is identified above for investments held at
year-end.
Custodial Credit Risk - Investments. For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event
of the failure of the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. State law does not require and the
City does not have a policy for investment custodial credit risk. Of the above pooled and mutual fund
investments, the City’s custodial credit risk exposure cannot be determined because the City’s
participation in the pool/funds does not consist of specifically identifiable securities.
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Concentration of Credit Risk. State law limits allowable investments but does not limit concentration of
credit risk as identified in Note 1, the summary of significant accounting policies. The City’s investment
policy does not have specific limits in excess of state law on concentration of credit risk. All investments
held at year-end are reported above.
5. INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS
Interfund receivables and payables of individual funds at June 30, 2018 were as follows:
Receivable
Fund
Internal service

Payable fund
General fund
Major streets fund
Local streets fund
Water and sewer fund
Internal service fund

$ 98,483
6,929
6,929
18,681
4,333
$135,355

Interfund balances reflect amounts owed to an internal service fund for services provided.
Transfers in and out for the year ended June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Transfers in
Major streets fund
Local streets fund
Nonmajor governmental funds

General
fund

Transfers out
Major
Nonmajor
streets
governmental
fund
funds

Total

$ 520,000
310,000
170,000

$

261,665

$ 376,331
670,745
-

$ 896,331
980,745
431,665

$1,000,000

$261,665

$1,047,076

$2,308,741

Transfers are used to (1) move unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to finance capital
and other various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations
and (2) move allocated cost of general operations to applicable funds.
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6. CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital asset activity for the year was as follows:
Balance
July 1,
2017
Governmental Activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated
Land
$ 2,124,000
Construction in progress
Total capital assets, not being depreciated
2,124,000
Capital assets, being depreciated
Land improvements
1,981,000
Buildings
12,417,729
Building improvements
3,544,755
Vehicles and equipment
5,469,500
Infrastructure
23,518,611
Total capital assets, being depreciated
46,931,595
Less accumulated depreciation for
Land improvements
915,735
Buildings
4,566,213
Building improvements
2,846,811
Vehicles and equipment
3,055,917
Infrastructure
11,581,680
Total accumulated depreciation
22,966,356
Net capital assets, being depreciated
23,965,239
Governmental Activities capital assets, net
$26,089,239
Business-type Activities
Construction in progress
Capital assets being depreciated
Sewer system
Water system
Lift station
Water tower
Drains
Meters
Total capital assets, being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for
Sewer system
Water system
Lift station
Water tower
Drains
Meters
Total accumulated depreciation
Net capital assets, being depreciated
Business-type Activities capital assets, net

$

-

Additions
$

Balance
June 30,
2018

Deletions
-

$ 2,144,700
62,467
2,207,167

143,261
243,824
881,405
1,634,723
2,903,213

18,186
334,085
352,271

2,124,261
12,417,729
3,770,393
6,016,820
25,153,334
49,482,537

112,346
400,026
198,717
570,827
1,078,248
2,360,164
543,049
$ 626,216

12,124
315,977
328,101
24,170
$ 24,170

1,028,081
4,966,239
3,033,404
3,310,767
12,659,928
24,998,419
24,484,118
$26,691,285

$

20,700
62,467
83,167

2,881

$

$

-

$

2,881

9,414,562
9,622,328
553,299
602,175
1,726,036
350,271
22,268,671

119,154
770,926
890,080

-

9,533,716
10,393,254
553,299
602,175
1,726,036
350,271
23,158,751

6,228,786
2,932,288
300,869
384,340
1,589,275
341,516
11,777,074
10,491,597
$10,491,597

204,873
203,733
18,594
41,681
9,769
8,757
487,407
402,673
$405,554

-

6,433,659
3,136,021
319,463
426,021
1,599,044
350,273
12,264,481
10,894,270
$10,897,151
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:
Governmental Activities
General government
Public safety
Public works
Recreation and culture
Capital assets held by the governments internal service
funds are charged to the various functions based on
their usage of the assets
Total depreciation expense - governmental activities
Business-type Activities
Water and sewer

$ 461,459
116,771
1,195,881
150,024
436,029
$2,360,164
$487,407

7. PENSION PLANS
MERS Defined Benefit Plan
Plan Description
The City participates in the Municipal Employees Retirement System (MERS) of Michigan. MERS is an
agent multiple employer, statewide public employee pension plan established by the Michigan
Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and administered by a nine member Retirement Board. MERS
issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information. This report may be obtained accessing the MERS website at
www.mersofmich.com.
This plan is closed to new entrants.
Benefits Provided
Benefits provided include a multiplier of 2.25 to 2.50 times final average compensation with a vesting
period of 10 years. Normal retirement age is 60 with early retirement at 50 with 25 or 55 with 15 to 25
years of service with various benefits. Benefits are calculated using final average compensation of 3 or
5 years depending on the employee’s position and classification.
Membership of the defined benefit plan consisted of the following at the date of the latest actuarial
valuation (December 31, 2017):
Active plan members
Inactive employees entitled but not yet receiving benefits
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits

5
7
47

Total

59
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Contributions
The City is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate, which for the current year was
$100,382 per month. Contributions are determined based on position and classification of participating
employees. Participating employees are required to contribute from 0% to 5.0% percent of gross wages
to the Plan based on position and classification. The contribution requirements of the City are
established and may be amended by the MERS Retirement Board. The contribution requirements of
employees are established and may be amended by labor agreements.
Net Pension Liability
The employer’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2017, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an annual actuarial valuation as of
that date.
The total pension liability in the December 31, 2017 annual actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Inflation: 2.5% (3-4% for 2014)
Salary Increases: base wage inflation of 3.75% in the long-term (plus merit and longevity from 0 to
11% based on age) (4.5 for 2014)
Investment rate of return: 7.75%, net of investment expense, including inflation (8.25% for 2014)
Mortality rates used for non-disabled plan member were based on a weighted blend of RP-2014
mortality tables of a 50% Male and 50% Female blend. Mortality rates used for disabled plan
member were based on a blend of RP-2014 disabled retire mortality tables of a 50% Male and 50%
Female blend of disabled retires. (1994 group annuity tables in 2014)
The actuarial assumptions used in the valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial
experience study.
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model
method in which the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net
of investment and administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:
Expected
Long-Term
Money
Target
Expected Real Weighted Rate
Asset Class
Allocation
Rate of Return
of Return
Global Equity
57.5%
6.27%
3.60%
Global Fixed Income
20.0%
3.43%
0.68%
Real Assets
12.5%
5.48%
0.69%
Diversifying Strategies
10.0%
7.81%
0.78%
Inflation
Administrative fee

2.00%
0.25%

Investment rate of return

8.00%
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Discount rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 8.00%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumes that employer and employee contributions will be made
at the rates agreed upon for employees and the actuarially determined rates for employers. Based on
these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay all
projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total pension liability.
Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Balance at December 31, 2016
Changes for the Year:
Service cost
Interest
Change in benefits
Differences between expected and actual experience
Change in assumptions
Contributions: employer
Contributions: employee
Net investment income
Benefit payments, including refunds
Administrative expense
Other changes
Net changes
Balance at December 31, 2017

Increase (Decrease)
Total
Plan
Net
Pension
Fiduciary
Pension
Liability
Net Position
Liability
(a)
(b)
(a)-(b)
$18,354,787
$8,735,603
$9,619,184
52,483
1,403,486
383,019
(1,674,899)
164,089
$18,518,876

1,123,500
14,249
1,125,955
(1,674,899)
(17,873)
570,932
$9,306,535

52,483
1,403,486
383,019
(1,123,500)
(14,249)
(1,125,955)
17,873
(406,843)
$9,212,341

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the employer, calculated using the discount rate of
8%, as well as what the employer’s net pension liability would be using a discount rate that is 1
percentage point lower (7%) or 1% higher (9%) than the current rate.

Total pension liability
Fiduciary net position
Net pension liability

1% Decrease
$20,126,473
9,306,535
$10,819,938
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Current
Discount rate
$18,518,876
9,306,535
$ 9,212,341

1 % Increase
$17,130,267
9,306,535
$ 7,823,732

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources Related to Pensions
For the year ended June 30, 2018 the employer recognized pension expense of $1,225,528. The
employer reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions from the following
sources:
Deferred
Deferred
Outflows
Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Differences in experience
$
$
Differences in assumptions
Excess (deficit) investment returns
150,312
Contributions subsequent to the
measurement date*
609,450
Total
$459,138
$150,312
* The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from the contributions subsequent
to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction in the Net Pension Liability for the year
ending June 30, 2019.
Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions (excluding
contributions subsequent to the measurement date) will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
2019
2020
2021
2022

$

59,563
25,736
(145,749)
(89,862)

Total

$(150,312)

Defined Contribution Plans
The City also maintains a defined contribution retirement plan administered by ICMA-RC. The plan
has a vesting period of 5 years and can be amended by City Council within the limits of various union
agreements. The City’s contribution for the year was $567,427 and employee contributions were
$126,424. The Plan covers all employees whose contributions are determined based on their position
and classification as follows:
City services employees hired on or after July 7, 1999 and all City services employees hired prior
to July 7, 1999 who elected to convert from the defined benefit plan on July 7, 1999. City services
employees contribute 6% and the City contributes 10.5% of the participants’ salaries to the Plan.
Non-union employees hired on or after July 1, 1999 and all non-union employees hired prior to
July 1, 1999 who elected to convert from the defined benefit plan on July 1, 1999. Non-Union
employees have the option to contribute up to 1% of their salary to the plan. The City is required
to contribute 14% of the participants’ salaries and match the employees’ optional contribution.
All public safety officers, lieutenants, and sergeants hired on or after January 1, 2002 and all
officers, lieutenants and sergeants hired prior to January 1, 2002 who elected to convert to the
defined contribution plan on January 1, 2002. Public safety participants are required to contribute
3.77-3.81% of their salary to the plan. The City is required to contribute 15% of the participants’
salaries to the Plan.
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8. OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Plan Description
The City maintains a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan (the “Plan”). In addition to the
retirement benefits described in Note 6, the Plan provides health insurance benefits to certain retirees
and their beneficiaries, which are advance funded on a discretionary basis. The Plan is included as an
other post-employment benefits trust fund in the City’s financial statements; a stand-alone financial
report of the Plan has not been issued.
Benefits provided
The plan provides 100% of health insurance benefits to eligible retirees and their spouse until age 65.
Dependents are covered until age 26. Eligibility is determined based on position and classification and
is maintained until the employee is eligible for federal Medicare coverage at age 65.
Membership of the Plan consisted of the following at the date of the latest actuarial valuation (June 30,
2018):
Active plan members
Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits

62
6

Total

68

Contributions
The Plan was established and is being funded under the authority of the City Commission. The Plan’s
funding policy is that the employer will contribute any required amounts as determined by an annual
actuarial valuation. There are no long-term contracts for contributions to the Plan. The plan has no
legally required reserves.
Net OPEB Liability
The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2018 annual actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Inflation: 2.0%
Salary Increases: 2.25%
Investment rate of return: 6.44%, net of investment expense, including inflation
Healthcare cost trend rates: 5% per year
20-year Aa Municipal bond yield: 3.1%
Mortality rates used SOA RPH-2014 at 2006 projected with MP-2016, annuitant and non-annuitant,
sex-distinct mortality tables.
The actuarial assumptions used in valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial
experience study.
The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a model
method in which the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net
of investment and administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
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These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:
Asset Class
US equity
International equity
Fixed income
Diversifying strategies

Target Allocation
28.5%
7.0%
59.0%
5.5%

Expected
Rate of Return
6.00%
6.80%
3.29%
5.74%

The sum of each target benefit times its long-term expected real rate is 4.44%. The long-term expected
rate of return is 6.44% with inflation.
Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability for June 30, 2018 is 3.26%
(3.46% for 2017). The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes that no
City contributions will be made as assets are drawn down to pay retiree benefits. Based on these
assumptions, the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be sufficient to pay all projected
future benefit payments of current members through 2027. For projected benefits that are expected to
be covered by projected assets, the long-term expected rate was used to discount the projected
benefits. From the year that benefit payments were not projected to be covered by the projected assets
(the “depletion date”), projected benefits were discounted at a discount rate reflecting a 20-year AA/Aa
tax-exempt municipal bond yield. A single equivalent discount rate that yields the same present value
of benefits is calculated. This discount rate is used to determine the total OPEB liability.
Changes in the Net OPEB Liability

Balance at June 30, 2017
Changes for the Year:
Service cost
Interest
Change in benefits
Differences between expected and actual experience
Change in assumptions
Contributions: employer
Contributions: employee
Net investment income
Benefit payments, including refunds
Administrative expense
Other changes
Net changes
Balance at June 30, 2018
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Increase (Decrease)
Plan
Total OPEB
Fiduciary
Net OPEB
Liability
Net Position
Liability
(a)
(b)
(a)-(b)
$3,264,267
$1,295,568
$1,968,699
148,494
114,168
137,121
53,689
(226,255)
227,217
$3,491,484

226,255
48,773
(226,255)
48,773
$1,344,341

148,494
114,168
137,121
53,689
(226,255)
(48,773)
178,444
$2,147,143
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Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to changes in the discount rate.
The following presents the net OPEB liability of the employer, calculated using the discount rate of
3.26%, as well as what the employer’s net OPEB liability would be using a discount rate that is 1
percentage point lower or higher than the current rate.

Total OPEB liability
Fiduciary net position
Net OPEB liability
Plan fiduciary position as a
percentage of the total OPEB liability

1% Decrease
$3,769,875
1,344,341
$2,425,534

Current
Discount rate
$3,491,484
1,344,341
$2,147,143

1% Increase
$3,230,024
1,344,341
$1,885,683

38.50%

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates.
The following presents the net OPEB liability of the employer, calculated using the healthcare cost trend
rate of 5.0%, as well as what the employer’s net OPEB liability would be using a healthcare cost trend
rate that is 1 percentage point lower or higher than the current rate.

Total OPEB liability
Fiduciary net position
Net OBEB liability

1% Decrease
$3,085,277
1,344,341
$1,740,936

Current
healthcare cost
trend rate
$3,491,484
1,344,341
$2,147,143

1% Increase
$3,969,999
1,344,341
$2,625,658

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to OPEB Plan
For the year ended June 30, 2018 the employer recognized OPEB expense of $172,289. The employer
reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Differences in experience
Differences in assumptions
Excess(deficit) investment returns
Total

Deferred
Outflows
of Resources
$126,333
412,107
16,449

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
$654,555
-

$554,889

$654,555

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in
OPEB expense as follows:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$ (6,938)
(6,938)
(6,936)
(3,175)
(10,109)
(65,570)

Total

$(99,666)
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9. LONG-TERM DEBT
The following is a summary of the debt transactions of the City for the year ended June 30, 2018:

Governmental Activities
$8,400,000 Unlimited Tax General
Obligation Bonds, Series 2012B; due
in annual installments of $70,000 to
$570,000 through June 2033, plus
interest at 2% to 4%

Balance
July 1,
2017

Additions

$7,605,000

$

Balance
June 30,
2018

Deletions

Due
Within
One Year

-

$295,000

$7,310,000

$315,000

$1,243,000 Unlimited Tax General
Obligation Refunding Bonds Series
2012; due in annual installments of
$97,000 to $151,000 through April
2022, plus interest at 1.99%

698,000

-

127,000

571,000

134,000

$1,250,000 2015 Michigan
Transportation Fund Refunding
Bonds; due in annual installments of
$245,000 to $255,000 through April
2020, plus interest at .75% to 1.8%

760,000

-

250,000

510,000

255,000

$119,900 2018 Installment Purchase
Agreement; due in annual installments
of $23,980 through May 2023, plus
interest at 2.84%

-

119,900

-

119,900

23,980

$89,600 2018 Installment Purchase
Agreement; due in annual installments
of $17,920 through May 2023, plus
interest at 2.84%

-

89,600

-

89,600

17,920

23,628

-

7,775

15,853

8,397

9,086,628

209,500

679,775

8,616,353

754,297

126,007
261,477

38,234

7,876
-

118,131
299,711

7,876
-

$9,474,112

$247,734

$687,651

$9,034,195

$762,173

$14,580

$4,494

Capital lease
Total
Unamortized premium
Accrued compensated absences
Total Governmental Activities
Business-type Activities
Accrued compensated absences
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$

-

$19,074

$

-
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The annual requirements to amortize all debt outstanding (excluding unamortized premium and
accrued compensated absences) as of June 30, 2018 are as follows:
Year Ending
June 30
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024-2028
2029-2033
Total

Governmental Activities
Principal
$754,297
794,356
572,900
607,900
491,900
2,685,000
2,710,000

Interest
$234,716
217,393
197,730
178,236
163,665
627,125
241,650

$8,616,353

$1,860,515

10. RISK MANAGEMENT
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters for which the government
carries commercial insurance. Settled claims have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in
any of the past three fiscal years. There were no changes in insurance coverage from the prior year.
The City manages its workers’ compensation risk by participating in the Michigan Municipal Workers’
Compensation Self-Insurance Fund (MMWCSIF), a public entity risk pool providing workers’
compensation coverage to its participating members. The City pays an annual premium to MMWCSIF
for its workers’ compensation coverage. The MMWCSIF is self-sustaining through member premiums
and provides statutory workers’ compensation coverage to its member by internally assuring certain
risks and reinsuring risks through commercial companies. Settled claims have not exceeded insurance
coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.
The City is self-funded for employees’ health benefits. The claims liability of $93,591 reported at June
30, 2018 is based on the requirements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which
requires that a liability for claims be reported if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
The activity of the self-funded insurance is accounted for in the Health Insurance Internal Service fund.
An excess coverage insurance policy covers claims in excess of $50,000 per covered individual. There
were no changes in insurance coverage from the prior year other than an increase in yearly
deductions/co-payments and an addition of a premium contribution for spousal/family coverage. The
City is responsible for paying administrative charges which are included in this fund. The revenues for
this fund’s operation are charges to various funds, employee withholdings, and co-payments. The
liability at the end of the year included claims already incurred and reported as well as an estimate for
claims incurred but not reported. Claim liabilities are calculated considering the effects of inflation,
recent claim settlement trends including frequency and amount of pay-outs and other economic and
social factors. Settled claims have not exceeded insurance coverage in the history of the self-insurance
program, and there have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year.
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The changes in the claims liability for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Year

Beginning of
Year
Liability

Current Year
Claims and
Changes in
Estimates

2017
2018

$ 60,586
124,083

$1,283,928
1,052,922

Claim
Payments
$1,220,431
1,083,414

End of Year
Liability
$124,083
93,591

11. CONSTRUCTION CODE FEES
The City oversees building construction in accordance with the State of Michigan Construction Code
Act, including inspection of building construction and renovation to ensure compliance with the building
codes. The City charges fees for these services. The law requires that collection of these fees be used
only for construction code costs, including an allocation of estimated overhead costs. During the year,
the City collected fees of $53,775 with related direct and indirect expenditures in excess of that amount.
12. COMMITMENTS
The City Commission approved a construction project through MDOT prior to June 30, 2018. The City’s
portion of the project is $185,000 and the work will be done subsequent to year end.
13. CONTINGENCIES
In the normal course of its operations, the City has become a party in various legal actions.
Management of the City is of the opinion that the outcome of such actions will not have a material effect
on the financial position of the City. Amounts reserved for losses related to legal actions have not been
included as a liability in the financial statements.
Under the terms of various Federal and State grants and regulatory requirements, periodic audits are
required and certain costs may be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the terms
of the grants and requirements. Such audits could lead to reimbursement to the grantor or regulatory
agencies. However, management believes such disallowances, if any, will not be material to the
financial position of the City.
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Revenues
Property taxes
Intergovernmental revenues
State
Licenses and permits
Charges for services
Recreation
Fines
Rentals
Investment earnings
Other

Budget Amounts
Original
Final
$

Total revenues
Expenditures
Current
Legislative
General government
Public safety
Public works
Parks and recreation
Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

8,340,000

$

8,340,000

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

Actual
Amount
$

8,335,190

$

(4,810)

916,500
65,000
566,400
1,189,200
40,000
40,400
25,000
121,600

1,006,500
65,000
579,700
1,136,000
35,000
40,400
50,000
148,100

1,025,112
65,312
611,503
1,142,350
28,957
40,425
64,438
130,826

18,612
312
31,803
6,350
(6,043)
25
14,438
(17,274)

11,304,100

11,400,700

11,444,113

43,413

28,100
1,634,400
5,198,000
1,739,600
2,014,000

28,100
1,670,400
5,140,400
2,062,100
1,959,200

25,224
1,600,759
5,073,657
2,047,617
1,852,485

2,876
69,641
66,743
14,483
106,715

10,614,100

10,860,200

10,599,742

260,458

690,000

540,500

844,371

303,871

Other financing sources (uses)
Issuance of long-term debt
Transfers out

(1,000,000)

209,500
(1,000,000)

209,500
(1,000,000)

-

Total other financing sources (uses)

(1,000,000)

(790,500)

(790,500)

-

(310,000)

(250,000)

53,871

303,871

3,751,531

-

Net changes in fund balance
Fund balance, beginning of year
Fund balance, end of year

3,751,531
$

3,441,531
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3,751,531
$

3,501,531

$

3,805,402

$

303,871
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Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues
State
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous

Budget Amounts
Original
Final
$

718,000
1,000
-

$

725,200
1,500
1,100

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

Actual
Amount
$

766,381
1,068
1,089

$

41,181
(432)
(11)

Total revenues

719,000

727,800

768,538

40,738

Expenditures
Current
Public works
Street maintenance
Street construction
Street administration
Engineering

498,600
284,000
129,400
69,000

618,700
735,600
97,800
67,700

583,278
582,131
86,220
63,250

35,422
153,469
11,580
4,450

Total expenditures

981,000

1,519,800

1,314,879

204,921

Revenues over (under) expenditures

(262,000)

(792,000)

(546,341)

245,659

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out

674,000
(262,000)

1,004,000
(262,000)

896,331
(261,665)

(107,669)
335

Total other financing sources (uses)

412,000

742,000

634,666

(107,334)

Net changes in fund balance

150,000

(50,000)

88,325

138,325

Fund balance, beginning of year

397,601

397,601

397,601

-

Fund balance, end of year

$

547,601
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$

347,601

$

485,926

$

138,325
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Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues
State
Investment earnings

Budget Amounts
Original
Final
$

298,100
1,000

$

365,100
2,200

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

Actual
Amount
$

380,120
2,351

$

15,020
151

Total revenues

300,100

367,300

382,471

15,171

Expenditures
Current
Public works
Street maintenance
Street construction
Street administration

505,400
661,000
124,700

539,900
863,300
95,100

516,653
670,745
84,093

23,247
192,555
11,007

1,291,100

1,498,300

1,271,491

226,809

Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

(991,000)

Other financing source (uses)
Transfers in

991,000

Net changes in fund balance

-

Fund balance, beginning of year
Fund balance, end of year

(1,131,000)

533,436
$

533,436
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$

(889,020)

241,980

971,000

980,745

9,745

(160,000)

91,725

251,725

533,436

533,436

-

373,436

$

625,161

$

251,725
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Total pension liability
Service cost
Interest
Changes in benefit terms
Difference between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions
Benefit payments including employee refunds
Other
Net change in total pension liability
Total pension liability, beginning of year
Total pension liability, end of year
Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions-employer
Contributions-employee
Net investment income
Benefit payments including employee refunds
Administrative expense
Net change in plan fiduciary net position
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning of year
Plan fiduciary net position, end of year
Total net pension liability

2014

2016

2017

$

52,264 $
53,644 $
55,650 $
1,418,426
1,361,488
1,439,882
268,503
(284,896)
921,755
(1,606,741)
(1,684,931)
(1,653,090)
42,544
(136,051)
963,003
(442,454)
17,970,289
17,834,238
18,797,241
$ 17,834,238 $ 18,797,241 $ 18,354,787 $

52,483
1,403,486
383,019
(1,674,899)
164,089
18,354,787
18,518,876

$

1,123,500
14,249
1,125,955
(1,674,899)
(17,873)
570,932
8,735,603
9,306,535

750,996 $
815,262 $
968,148 $
18,124
15,034
17,480
600,334
(132,612)
931,223
(1,606,741)
(1,684,931)
(1,653,090)
(21,858)
(19,970)
(18,426)
(259,145)
(1,007,217)
245,335
9,756,630
9,497,485
8,490,268
$ 9,497,485 $ 8,490,268 $ 8,735,603 $

$ 8,336,753

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability
Covered employee payroll

2015

$ 10,306,973

53.3%
$

Employer's net pension liability as a percentage
of covered employee payroll

415,614
2005.9%
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$

45.2%
$

425,735
2421.0%

9,619,184

$ 9,212,341

47.6%
$

437,527
2198.5%

50.3%
$

402,095
2291.1%
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2015

2016

$

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

Covered employee payroll

$

415,614

$

425,735

$

437,527

$

402,095

Notes to schedule
Actuarial cost method
Amortization method
Remaining amortization period
Asset valuation method
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Retirement age
Mortality

$

2018

Actuarially determined contributions
Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution

Contributions as a percentage of covered
employee payroll

736,644

2017

736,644

177%

893,880

$ 1,042,416

893,880

1,042,416

210%

Entry Age
Level percentage of payroll, closed
12 years
5 year smoothed
2.50%
3.75%
7.75% 2014: 8.25%
Varies depending on plan adoption
50% female/ 50% male RP-2014
mortality table
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238%

$

1,204,584
1,204,584

300%
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LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
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2017

Total OPEB liability
Service cost
Interest
Changes in benefit terms
Difference between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions
Benefit payments including employee refunds
Other
Net change in total OPEB liability
Total OPEB liability, beginning of year
Total OPEB liability, end of year

2018

$

140,181 $
148,494
179,527
114,168
(126,139)
(767,215)
137,121
425,060
53,689
(75,031)
(226,255)
(223,617)
227,217
3,264,267
3,487,884
$ 3,264,267 $ 3,491,484

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions-employer
Contributions-employee
Net investment income
Benefit payments including employee refunds
Administrative expense
Other
Net change in plan fiduciary net position
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning of year
Plan fiduciary net position, end of year

75,031 $
226,255
79,601
48,773
(75,031)
(226,255)
48,773
79,601
1,295,568
1,215,967
$ 1,295,568 $ 1,344,341

Employer net OPEB liability

$ 1,968,699

$

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total OPEB liability

40%

Covered employee payroll

$ 5,022,780

Employer's net OPEB liability as a percentage
of covered employee payroll

39%
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$ 2,147,143

39%
$ 5,086,305
42%
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2017

2018

Actuarial determined contributions
Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution
Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

Covered employee payroll

$ 5,022,780

Contributions as a percentage of covered
employee payroll
Notes to schedule
Actuarial cost method
Amortization method
Remaining amortization period
Asset valuation method
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
20-year Aa Municipal bond yield
Retirement age
Mortality

$

-

$

-

99,352
(99,352) $

226,255
(226,255)

$

5,086,305

2%
Entry Age Normal (level percent)
Level percent, closed
14 years (average future service)
Market value
3.26% (3.46% for 2017)
2.25%
6.44% (7.31% for 2017)
3.10%
Varies depending on plan adoption
RP Mortality with 2016 mortality projections

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Basis of Accounting
Budgets for the General and Special Revenue Funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
Pension and OPEB data
The data presented on the schedule of changes in employers net pension liability schedule is based on a
December 31 measurement date.
The data presented on the schedule of changes in employers net OPEB liability schedule is based on a
June 30 measurement date.
The pension and OPEB schedules are being accumulated prospectively until 10 years of information is
presented.
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COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND
STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Revenues
Taxes
Property taxes
Interest and penalties on property taxes
Total taxes

Budget Amounts
Final
Original
$

8,320,000
20,000

$

8,320,000
20,000

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

Actual
Amount
$

8,318,871
16,319

$

(1,129)
(3,681)

8,340,000

8,340,000

8,335,190

(4,810)

Intergovernmental revenue
State shared revenue
Community stabilization
State grants

910,000
6,500

968,000
20,000
18,500

988,090
19,242
17,780

20,090
(758)
(720)

Total intergovernmental revenue

916,500

1,006,500

1,025,112

Licenses and permits
Business licenses
Building permits
Other

15,000
35,000
15,000

15,000
35,000
15,000

17,450
29,671
18,191

Total licenses and permits

65,000

65,000

65,312

Charges for services
Administrative charges
Cable television franchise fees
Clerk's services
Right-of-way fees
Other

275,000
225,000
4,000
35,000
27,400

275,000
225,000
4,000
35,000
40,700

275,000
217,300
3,750
40,881
74,572

(7,700)
(250)
5,881
33,872

Total charges for services

566,400

579,700

611,503

31,803

1,189,200

1,136,000

1,142,350

6,350

Fines and penalties

40,000

35,000

28,957

Rentals
Library rental fee

40,400

40,400

40,425

25

Investment earnings

25,000

50,000

64,438

14,438

Other revenue
Cable tower rental
Cable television capital fees
Miscellaneous revenue

68,600
53,000
-

68,600
53,000
26,500

67,190
49,462
14,174

(1,410)
(3,538)
(12,326)

121,600

148,100

130,826

(17,274)

$ 11,304,100

$ 11,400,700

$ 11,444,113

Recreation fees

Total other revenue
Total revenues
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18,612

2,450
(5,329)
3,191
312

(6,043)

$

43,413

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Expenditures
Current
City Commission

Budget Amounts
Final
Original
$

28,100

General government
City manager
City attorney
Elections
City assessor
Finance
Other

$

28,100

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

Actual
Amount
$

25,224

$

2,876

348,600
255,000
24,000
120,000
633,200
253,600

361,600
255,000
11,700
119,800
633,100
289,200

350,827
244,091
9,144
111,503
611,536
273,658

10,773
10,909
2,556
8,297
21,564
15,542

Total general government

1,634,400

1,670,400

1,600,759

69,641

Public safety
General activity
State programs

5,192,500
5,500

5,134,900
5,500

5,068,953
4,704

65,947
796

Total public safety

5,198,000

5,140,400

5,073,657

66,743

864,300
138,700
98,800
91,000
412,200
12,100
122,500

1,079,200
162,900
88,500
172,200
418,200
12,100
129,000

1,060,735
164,067
88,533
170,335
422,898
12,470
128,579

18,465
(1,167)
(33)
1,865
(4,698)
(370)
421

1,739,600

2,062,100

2,047,617

14,483

771,000
182,000
155,100
130,900
386,400
206,300
61,100
121,200

783,900
179,800
156,200
93,500
393,200
181,800
61,200
109,600

726,697
163,545
151,273
91,018
383,004
169,466
61,008
106,474

57,203
16,255
4,927
2,482
10,196
12,334
192
3,126

2,014,000

1,959,200

1,852,485

106,715

$ 10,614,100

$ 10,860,200

$ 10,599,742

Public works
City buildings
Zoning administration
Street lighting
Wealthy streetscape maintenance
Waste collection
Lake restoration
Tree maintenance and removal
Total public works
Parks and recreation
Parks
Pool
Special events
Recreation programing
Grounds maintenance
Recreation sports
Middle school sports
Acquatic club
Total culture and recreation
Total expenditures
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$

260,458

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2018
Special
Revenue
Municipal
Streets

Debt
Service

Drug Law
Enforcement

Wealthy
Pool

Municipal
Complex

Streetscape

Total

Assets
Cash and pooled investments
Accounts receivable

$

84,126
53,618

$

86,468
-

$

3,214
-

$

6,239
-

$

-

$

180,047
53,618

Total assets

$

137,744

$

86,468

$

3,214

$

6,239

$

-

$

233,665

Liabilities and fund balances
Liabilities
Accounts payable

$

32,779

$

3,966

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

36,745

Fund balances
Restricted
Streets
Drug seizure
Debt service

104,965
-

82,502
-

-

-

-

3,214

6,239

-

104,965
82,502
9,453

Total fund balances

104,965

82,502

3,214

6,239

-

196,920

Total liabilities and fund balances

$

137,744

$

86,468

53

$

3,214

$

6,239

$

-

$

233,665

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
Special
Revenue

Revenues
Taxes
Intergovernmental revenues
Local
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous

Municipal
Streets
$

Debt
Service

Drug Law
Enforcement

1,270,651

$

Wealthy
Pool
-

$

Municipal
Complex

141,903

$

Streetscape

514,450

$

Total

-

$ 1,927,004

2,754
64,643

69,677
-

-

-

-

69,677
2,754
64,643

1,338,048

69,677

141,903

514,450

-

2,064,078

431,865

31,166
-

-

-

-

31,166
431,865

-

-

127,000
13,803

295,000
217,550

250,000
11,665

672,000
243,018

Total expenditures

431,865

31,166

140,803

512,550

261,665

1,378,049

Revenues over (under) expenditures

906,183

38,511

1,100

1,900

170,000
(1,047,076)

-

-

-

261,665
-

431,665
(1,047,076)

(877,076)

-

-

-

261,665

(615,411)

Total revenues
Expenditures
Current
Public safety
Public works
Debt service
Principal
Interest

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

(261,665)

686,029

Net changes in fund balances

29,107

38,511

1,100

1,900

-

70,618

Fund balances, beginning of year

75,858

43,991

2,114

4,339

-

126,302

Fund balances, end of year

$

104,965

$

82,502

54

$

3,214

$

6,239

$

-

$

196,920

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
MUNICIPAL STREETS FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Revenues
Taxes
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous

Budget Amounts
Original
Final
$

Total revenues

1,270,400
-

$

1,271,500
700
211,000

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

Actual
Amount
$

1,270,651
2,754
64,643

$

(849)
2,054
(146,357)

1,270,400

1,483,200

1,338,048

(145,152)

Expenditures
Current
Public works
Street maintenance
Street construction

240,400
65,000

426,700
6,500

425,345
6,520

1,355
(20)

Total expenditures

305,400

433,200

431,865

1,335

Revenues over (under) expenditures

965,000

1,050,000

906,183

Other financing source (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out

280,000
(945,000)

170,000
(1,145,000)

170,000
(1,047,076)

97,924

Total other financing sources (uses)

(665,000)

(975,000)

(877,076)

97,924

300,000

75,000

29,107

(45,893)

75,858

75,858

75,858

Net changes in fund balance
Fund balance, beginning of year
Fund balance, end of year

$

375,858
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$

150,858

$

104,965

(143,817)

$

(45,893)

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
DRUG LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues
Local

Budget Amounts
Original
Final
$

50,000

$

69,400

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

Actual
Amount
$

69,677

$

277

Expenditures
Current
Public safety
Drug law enforcement

29,400

39,400

31,166

8,234

Net changes in fund balance

20,600

30,000

38,511

8,511

Fund balance, beginning of year

43,991

43,991

43,991

-

Fund balance, end of year

$

64,591
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$

73,991

$

82,502

$

8,511

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2018
Motor
Pool

Assets
Current assets
Cash and pooled investments
Accounts receivable
Due from other funds
Prepaid and other assets
Inventory

$

Total current assets

468,411
1,094
3,698
49,567

Health
Insurance
$

522,770

Capital assets
Capital assets being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation

Total

495,390
138,224
135,355
47,947
-

$

816,916

963,801
139,318
135,355
51,645
49,567
1,339,686

5,034,389
(2,737,694)

-

5,034,389
(2,737,694)

2,296,695

-

2,296,695

2,819,465

816,916

3,636,381

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Due to other funds
Accrued liabilities
Compensated absences

18,774
4,333
4,514
13,182

3,572
283,849
-

22,346
4,333
288,363
13,182

Total liabilities

40,803

287,421

328,224

2,296,695
481,967

529,495

2,296,695
1,011,462

Net capital assets
Total assets

Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

57

2,778,662

$

529,495

$

3,308,157

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Motor
Pool

Operating revenue
Charges for services
Other

$

790,555
45,086

Health
Insurance
$

1,492,709
46,039

Total
$

2,283,264
91,125

Total operating revenue

835,641

1,538,748

2,374,389

Operating expense
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Materials and supplies
Equipment
Claims
Administration
Depreciation
Miscellaneous

209,406
16,064
241,013
5,460
436,029
421

463,262
811,422
258,691
-

209,406
479,326
241,013
5,460
811,422
258,691
436,029
421

Total operating expense

908,393

1,533,375

2,441,768

Operating income (loss)

(72,752)

5,373

(67,379)

99,395
1,523

5,951

99,395
7,474

100,918

5,951

106,869

28,166

11,324

39,490

2,750,496

518,171

3,268,667

Non-operating revenue (expense)
Gain on sale of capital assets
Investment earnings
Total non-operating revenue (expense)
Changes in net position
Net position, beginning of year
Net position, end of year

$

58

2,778,662

$

529,495

$

3,308,157

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Motor
Pool

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from internal services provided
Payments to employees
Payments to suppliers

$

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

886,534 $
(208,385)
(250,371)
427,778

Health
Insurance

Total

1,425,988 $
(1,562,032)
(136,044)

2,312,522
(208,385)
(1,812,403)
291,734

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Acquisitions of capital assets

116,018
(634,883)

-

116,018
(634,883)

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related
financing activities

(518,865)

-

(518,865)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest income

1,523

5,951

Net increase (decrease) in cash and pooled investments

(89,564)

(130,093)

Cash and pooled investments, beginning of year

557,975

625,483

7,474
(219,657)
1,183,458

Cash and pooled investments, end of year

$

468,411 $

495,390 $

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating income (loss)

$

(72,752) $

5,373 $

(67,379)

-

436,029

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Depreciation
Change in operating assets and liabilities
which provided (used) cash
Accounts receivable
Due from other funds
Prepaid and other assets
Inventory
Accounts payable
Due to other funds
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue
Compensated absences

436,029
50,858
379
4,512
7,696
35
(58)
1,079

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

59

427,778 $

963,801

(102,086)
(10,674)
(8,726)
1,251
(8,841)
(12,341)
-

(51,228)
(10,674)
(8,347)
4,512
8,947
35
(8,899)
(12,341)
1,079

(136,044) $

291,734

INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE

Vredeveld Haefner LLC
CPAs and Consultants
10302 20th Avenue
Grand Rapids, MI 49534
Fax (616) 828-0307

Douglas J. Vredeveld, CPA
(616) 446-7474
Peter S. Haefner, CPA
(616) 460-9388

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS
September 21, 2018
Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Commission
City of East Grand Rapids, Michigan
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information
of the City of East Grand Rapids, Michigan, (the “City”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 21, 2018.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to
be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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Specializing in services to governmental and nonprofit entities

Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control
or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this
communication is not suitable for any other purpose.
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Vredeveld Haefner LLC
CPAs and Consultants
10302 20th Avenue
Grand Rapids, MI 49534
Fax (616) 828-0307

Douglas J. Vredeveld, CPA
(616) 446-7474
Peter S. Haefner, CPA
(616) 460-9388

September 21, 2018
To the City Commission
City of East Grand Rapids, Michigan
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of East Grand Rapids (the City) for
the year ended June 30, 2018. Professional standards require that we provide you with information about
our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, as
well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated
such information in our letter to you dated July 16, 2018. Professional standards also require that we
communicate to you the following information related to our audit.
Significant Audit Results
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant
accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. No new accounting
policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 2018. We noted no
transactions entered into by the governmental unit during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative
guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the
proper period.
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly
from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were:
Management’s estimate of the useful lives of capital assets is based on previous
history and future expectations. The estimates of pension plan and other post-employment
benefit plan obligations are based on actuarial valuations of the plans performed by an
actuary. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates in
determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a
whole.
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our
audit.
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the
audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. In
addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management
were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion unit’s financial statements taken as a
whole.
Disagreements with Management
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant
to the financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements
arose during the course of our audit.

Specializing in services to governmental and nonprofit entities

Management Representations
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated September 21, 2018.
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application
of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial statements or a determination of the type of
auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the
consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our
knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants.
Other Audit Findings or Issues
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the governmental unit’s auditors. However,
these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were
not a condition to our retention.
Other Matters
We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI), as itemized in the
table of contents, that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of
management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.
We were engaged to report on supplementary information which accompany the financial statements but
are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and
evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information
complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of
preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in
relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information
to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements
themselves.
Restriction on Use
This information is intended solely for the use of the Board and management of the City and is not intended
to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.
Sincerely,

CITY OF

EAST GRAND RAPIDS
750 LAKESIDE DRIVE SE • EAST GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN 49506
(616) 949-2110
www.eastgr.org
ALEKSANDER P. MIZIKAR
ZONING ADMINISTRATOR

MEMORANDUM
TO:
FROM:
DATE:

Mayor and City Commissioners
Alek Mizikar, Zoning Administrator
September 25, 2018

RE:

Introduction to Chapter 83 Article I Ordinance Amendment

Action Requested: That the City Commission review and consider the introduction of the proposed
fence ordinance amendment.
Background: At the July 16th City Commission meeting, a variance request was tabled that had
requested relief from the fence ordinance in regards to fence height and placement on corner lot street
side yards. Section 8.61.C of the fence ordinance states that “a fence or wall located within twenty
(20) feet of the street right-of-way line on the street side yard of a corner lot shall not exceed thirtysix (36) inches in height, measured from the natural grade to the uppermost portion of the fence or
wall, or shall have clear visibility through it (such as a chain link fence) and be set back at least one
(1) foot from the right-of-way line”. The variance request was tabled and the Mayor had requested
that a review of the fence ordinance be tasked to the infrastructure committee. After two
infrastructure committee meetings on August 24th and August 30th, the infrastructure committee has
proposed an amendment to Article I of Chapter 83. The amendment would be as follows:
•
•

•

A brief sentence was added at the beginning of the ordinance to indicate the intent of the
ordinance. Intent statements are common in many ordinances, and they help to indicate the
reasoning for the present rules and regulations.
Section 8.61.C was amended to change the twenty (20) foot setback rule to instead be ten (10)
feet, or in alignment with the current house setback, whichever is closest to the property line.
The committee believes that this would allow more flexibility for corner lot property owners.
The term “metal rod fence” was also added in when chain-link fences are mentioned.
Section 8.61.M was added, stating that a permit would be required for the construction of any
fence.

This has been approved by the Infrastructure Committee and found to be in order.
This was introduced at the October 1st City Commission meeting and found to be in order.

____________________________________
Brian Donovan, City Manager

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND ARTICLE I OF CHAPTER 83 OF TITLE VIII
OF THE CODE OF THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS

THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS ORDAINS:
Section 1.
Article I of Chapter 83 of Title VIII of the Code of the City of East Grand
Rapids is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:
ARTICLE I
GENERAL FENCE REQUIREMENTS
The intent of this ordinance is to create openness and clear vision within the City's
neighborhoods so that pedestrians and vehicles can safely proceed on sidewalks and
streets without views of other pedestrians and vehicles being blocked by a fence.
8.61

Requirements and restrictions.
A.

Fences or walls located in a side or rear yard shall not exceed six (6) feet
in height, measured from the natural grade to the uppermost portion of the
fence or wall.

B.

Fences or walls erected in any front yard, including both street sides of a
through lot, shall not exceed thirty-six (36) inches in height, measured
from the natural grade to the uppermost portion of the fence or wall, and
shall be no more than fifty percent (50%) opaque.

C.

A fence or wall up to six (6) feet in height shall be at least ten (10) feet off
of the street right-of-way line on the street side yard of a corner lot, or
must be in alignment with the current house setback, whichever is less.
Any fence or wall within that ten (10) foot setback, or closer than the
established side yard setback of the house, shall not exceed thirty-six (36)
inches in height, measured from the natural grade to the uppermost
portion of the fence or wall, or shall have clear visibility through it (such as
a chain link fence or a metal rod fence) and be set back at least one (1)
foot from the right-of-way line. In addition, no fence or wall may be
located in the clear vision area required by Section 3.40 of the City Code
unless it has clear visibility through it.

D.

A fence or wall lawfully in existence as of the adoption of subsections B
and C above that does not conform to the requirements of subsections B
and C (a "preexisting fence or wall") may be continued so long as it
remains otherwise lawful, subject to the following provisions:
1.

No preexisting fence or wall may be enlarged or altered in a way
which increases its nonconformity.

2.

If a preexisting fence or wall is moved for any reason, it shall
thereafter conform to the regulations of subsections B and C.

3.

Repair and maintenance work may be performed on a preexisting
fence or wall provided that its nonconformity as it existed at the
time this section was adopted is not increased.

4.

Nothing in this section shall be deemed to prevent the
strengthening or restoring to a safe condition of a preexisting fence
or wall or part thereof declared to be unsafe by any official charged
with protecting the public safety, upon order of such official.

E.

Fences and walls shall be constructed and maintained vertical to the
contour of the adjoining land. All fences constructed or reconstructed
following the adoption of this section shall have the finished side facing
neighboring property. The back side of a fence shall face the owner's
property and shall contain the fence posts and bracing.

F.

There shall not be attached, affixed, or placed on any fence or wall any
spike, nail, barb (including barbwire), or other pointed instrument, and all
cleaved selvages and sharp points on wire fences shall be removed or
bent to eliminate any sharp extrusions.

G.

No fence or wall shall be constructed or maintained which is charged or
connected with an electrical current.

H.

Temporary construction fences or fences for protection around
excavations shall comply with all requirements of the National Building
Code. Such fences shall not be maintained for a period greater than a
year without approval of the Zoning Board of Appeals.

I.

Fences enclosing tennis courts shall not exceed twelve (12) feet in height
and shall be of a standard open wire-mesh type and if in excess of six (6)
feet in height shall not encroach upon the side yard required to be
maintained under the provisions of Chapter 50, Zoning, of this Code
without the prior approval of the City Commission. The City Commission,
in considering applications to construct such fences, shall give
consideration to the character of the neighborhood and the preservation of
property values and may attach to its approval such conditions regarding
the location, character, landscaping, or treatment thereof as it may deem
to be reasonably necessary for the protection of the neighbors and for the
furtherance of the intent of this chapter.

J.

No fence or wall shall be erected within one (1) foot of any lot line abutting
a street right-of-way line.
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K.

Provisions of the City Code in Title VIII dealing with fencing requirements
for swimming pools may in some instances be inconsistent with the
requirements of this section. Any such inconsistencies shall be addressed
by filing for an exception as provided in subsection L below.

L.

The City Commission may, for good cause, authorize exceptions from the
strict requirements of this chapter upon written application and following a
public hearing. The procedure for such application and hearing shall be
as set forth in Section 5.100 to 5.105, inclusive, of this Code with respect
to variances from the City Zoning Ordinances.

M.

Prior to installing or having a fence installed upon a parcel of property, the
owner of the property or the owner's contractor must obtain a fence permit
from the City. The procedure for obtaining this permit will be set forth in
the Fee Resolution adopted by the City from time-to-time for other
required permits.

Maintenance of fences.
A.

All fences shall be protected from deterioration with properly applied paint,
stain, or other protective coating, with the exception of metal fences,
redwood and cedar fences, or fences constructed with pressure-treated
lumber which are of a type not customarily intended to be so painted,
stained or coated, but such fences shall be properly maintained to prevent
deterioration.

B.

Fences shall be maintained to retain their original appearance, shape and
configuration.
Elements of the fence that are missing, damaged,
destroyed or deteriorated shall be replaced and repaired to maintain
conformity with the original fence design.

C.

Any fence which because of a failure to comply with the provisions of this
chapter becomes unsafe so as to create possibility of bodily injury or
becomes unsightly to neighbors or the general public is hereby declared a
nuisance. The building inspector shall serve the owner, agent or person in
control of the property upon which such fence is located, a written notice
describing the unsafe or unsightly condition and specifying the required
repairs or modifications to be made or requiring the fence or any portion
thereof to be removed, and shall provide a time limit for such repair,
modification or removal. Any person failing to comply with such notice
within the time limited therefor shall be guilty of a violation of this Code.
(Ord., 11-4-84)

Section 2.

This Ordinance shall be effective on ____________, 2018.
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Section 3.
Notice of adoption of this Ordinance shall be published within ten days of
its enactment by a publication of a digest, summary, or statement of purpose of the
Ordinance as provided by Chapter VII, Section 7.5 of the Charter of the City of East
Grand Rapids.
NOTICE OF ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE BY THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS:
Notice is hereby given that on ___________, 2018, the City Commission of the City of
East Grand Rapids adopted an ordinance restating Article I of Chapter 83 of Title VIII of
the City Code. The purpose of this ordinance is to regulate fences within the City. The
ordinance requires that a permit be acquired before installing a fence and contains
placement restrictions on the location of fences and height restrictions also based upon
the location of fences. The full text of the ordinance is available for inspection by and
distribution to the public at the office of the City Clerk. No further or additional
publication of this ordinance is required or contemplated.

City of East Grand Rapids

By
Karen K. Brower
City Clerk
13970884
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CITY OF

EAST GRAND RAPIDS
750 LAKESIDE DRIVE SE • EAST GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN 49506
(616) 949-4817

www.eastgr.org

DOUG LAFAVE
ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER

MEMORANDUM
TO:
FROM:
DATE:

Honorable Mayor and City Commissioners
Doug La Fave, Assistant City Manager
9/24/2018

RE:

City Code Updates and Revisions

Action Requested: That the City Commission review and consider approval of updates to the City Code in advance
of the recodification of the City Code by American Legal.

Background: Before recodification by American Legal, City staff along with legal counsel has made suggested
changes, most of which are minor updates, word usage, and changes to reflect current procedures. Below is the
bulleted summary from City Attorney John Huff:
Chapter 32-Trees, Shrubs and Plants
• Section 3.33 contains minor definitional changes, some new language in the section related to public works
and parks and recreation with respect to departmental jurisdiction and the appeal process for requested tree
removals.
• Removal of the former section 3.35 (dealing with spacing of trees).
• Some minor modification to 3.39 (removal of gas utility language), 3.40 (illustration added along with
boundary notations), 3.41 (notification period) and 3.42 (language clean up).
• Sections 3.47, 3.48 and 3.49 all contain minor changes as well. Many of the provisions have a new section
number because of deletions and additions.
Chapter 41-Streets
• Minor definition change (noting public works).
• Article I, Sections 4.2 (reference to MDOT Act 51) and 4.5 have been changed (referencing insurance
requirements).
• Article V, Section 4.26 is a complete rewrite (house moving) and 4.27 (responsibilities clarified).
• Article VII related to Wealthy Street has been removed as it was put in place with respect to the Wealthy
Street streetscape project in Gaslight Village and is no longer relevant.
Chapter 42-Sidewalks
• Section 4.43 was removed and no longer a practice/procedure (line grade stakes) and the new 4.43 notes the
sidewalk specifications per MDOT which was formerly section 4.44.
• Section 4.44 notes responsibility for damage and procedure for sidewalks.
• Section 4.45 clarifies winter maintenance and practice.
• Section 4.49 was removed (emergency repairs-to meet current liability and City practice).
This has been reviewed by the Finance Committee and found to be in order.
________________________
Brian Donovan, City Manager

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 32 OF TITLE III OF
THE CODE OF THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS ORDAINS:
Section 1.
Chapter 32 of Title III of the Code of the City of East Grand Rapids is amended in
its entirety to read as follows:
CHAPTER 32
TREES, SHRUBS AND PLANTS
3.31.

Definitions. The following definitions shall apply in the interpretation of this chapter:

DEPARTMENT shall mean the department of public works.
DIRECTOR shall mean director of public works or designee.
OWNER shall include the person with legal or equitable title to the property, a lessee or tenant in
possession of the property and any other person having control of or responsibility with respect to
the property in such manner that he or she could reasonably be expected to take any action
required by this chapter or to see that any acts prohibited by this chapter are not done.
PARK shall include all public parks having individual names, and all areas owned by the city, or
to which the public has free access as a park.
PROHIBITED SPECIES shall mean any tree of the species of poplar (Populus spp.), willow
(Salix spp.) and box elder (Acer negundo).
PUBLIC UTILITY shall mean any person owning or operating any pole, line, pipe or conduit
located in any public street or over or along any public easement or right-of-way for the
transmission of electricity, gas, telephone service or cable television service.
STREET shall mean all the land lying between property lines on either side of all streets,
highways and boulevards in the city.
TREE, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, means trees, shrubs, bushes and all other
woody vegetation. (1982 Code §3.31; Ord., 8-14-92)
3.32. Responsibility. The director shall be charged with the duty of enforcing the provisions of
this chapter. (1982 Code §3.32)
3.33. Permits for tree planting, care and removal. The director shall have control over all
trees located within the street rights-of-way in the city and the planting, care and removal thereof,
subject to the regulations contained in this chapter. The Director of Parks and Recreation shall
have control over all trees located in park properties or trails in the city and the planting, care and
removal thereof, subject to the regulations contained in this chapter. The owner of land abutting on
any street may, upon obtaining prior written permission of the director, prune, spray, or plant
trees in that part of the street abutting his land not used for public travel, but no person shall

otherwise prune, spray, or plant any tree in any street or park. Every such permit shall specify the
extent of the authorization and the conditions to which it is subject. Where an owner of abutting
property requests the removal of a tree that is not in poor health or structurally unsound as
determined by the Director, the owner may make a request to the City Commission through a
standing sub-committee by a City Commission approved policy.
3.34. Public tree planting, care and removal. The department shall have the right to plant,
trim, spray, preserve1 and remove trees, plants and shrubs within the lines of all streets, alleys,
avenues, lanes, squares and public grounds, as may be necessary to ensure safety or to preserve the
symmetry and beauty of such public grounds. The director may remove, or cause or order to be
removed, any tree or part thereof which is in an unsafe condition, or which is of a prohibited
species, or is affected with any injurious disease, fungus, insect or other pest. Whenever the
department shall remove any tree, plant or shrub, solely for the purpose of constructing any public
work, the director shall, if practicable, replace the same at public expense at some nearby location
by planting another tree, plant or shrub, not necessarily of the same type. (1982 Code §3.34)
3.35. Tree protection2. No person shall break, injure, mutilate, kill or destroy any tree or shrub,
or set any fire within ten (10) feet of any tree, or permit any fire, or the heat thereof, to injure any
portion of any tree. No toxic chemicals or other injurious materials shall be allowed to seep, drain
or be emptied on, near or about any tree. No electric wires or any other lines or wires shall be
permitted to come in contact with any tree or shrub in any manner that shall cause damage thereto,
and no person shall attach any electric insulator to any tree. No person shall use any tree as an
anchor except by special written permit from the director, and no material shall be fastened to or
hung on any tree. All persons having under their care, custody or control, facilities which may
interfere with the trimming or removal of any tree, shall after notice thereof by the department,
promptly abate such interference in such manner as shall permit the trimming or removal of such
tree by the department. (1982 Code §3.36)
3.36. Excavations near trees. Excavations and driveways shall not be placed within five (5)
feet of any tree without written permit from the director. Any person making such excavation or
construction shall guard any tree within six (6) feet thereof with a good substantial frame box to be
approved by the department, and all building material or other debris shall be kept at least four (4)
feet from any tree. (1982 Code §3.37)
3.37. Covering surface near trees. No person shall place within the street right-of-way
(excepting the street surface there-of) any stone, brick, sand, concrete or other material which will
in any way impede the full and free passage of water, air or fertilizer to the roots of any tree,
except a sidewalk of authorized width and location. (1982 Code §3.38)

3.38. Private trees and shrubs-Obstructing public ways or clear vision areas.

1. See also Chapter 35 of this Code.
2. See also section 3.231 of this Code.

A.
The owner of any tree on private property overhanging any street or right-of-way
shall trim the branches so that such branches shall not obstruct the light from any street
light or obstruct the view of any street intersection and so that there shall be a clear space
of ten (10) feet above the top of the curb at the street level over the street or sidewalk (see
illustration A-0). The city shall have the right to trim any tree or shrub on private property
when it interferes with pedestrian or vehicular traffic, or with the proper spread of light
along the street from a street light, or interferes with visibility of any traffic-control device
or sign, such trimming to be confined to the area immediately above the right-of-way. This
ordinance does not apply to trees or shrubs in the right-of-way of adjacent jurisdictions as
determined by public act 51 or intergovernmental agreements for right-of-way or street
responsibility.

ILLUSTRATION
(Left)

B.
For purposes of this section trees
shall mean trees, and shrubs shall
include bushes, woody vegetation and
plantings. Shrubs on private property
located within a clear vision area, as
described below, shall not be permitted
to extend or grow to a height of more
than thirty (36) inches above the top of
the curb at the street level in order that
the view of a pedestrian or driver of a
vehicle approaching a driveway or
street intersection shall not be
obstructed. Trees may be planted and
maintained on private property in a
clear vision area so long as all branches
are trimmed to maintain a clear vision
for a vertical height of ten (10) feet
above the street level. A clear vision
area shall be measured as follows:
1.
A clear vision area for a
driveway means a triangular

A-0

area formed by the intersection of a street right of way line and a driveway line and
extending twenty (20) feet from the intersection of the lines, or in the case of a
rounded line from the intersection of the line extended (see following illustration
A-1).
2.
A clear vision area for a corner lot means a triangular area formed by the
intersection of two (2) street right of way lines and extending twenty (20) feet from
the intersection of the lines, or in the case of a rounded line from the intersection of
the line extended (see following illustration A-1).
C.
Any property owner failing to trim or maintain any trees or shrubs in conformity
with this chapter shall be notified by the director of city public works or his/her designee..
Such notice shall require trimming or maintenance in conformity with this chapter within
ten (10) days after service of such notice. Upon the expiration of such period, the director
of public works may cause the trimming or maintenance to be done and the cost thereof
may be collected from the owner of said property as a single lot assessment in accordance
with section 1.306 of this code.

3.39. Removal of private trees. Every owner of private property who removes or has removed a
tree or trees or removes limbs from a tree or trees located on such property, or who suffers a tree
or limbs therefrom to be damaged by the elements so as to require removal of such tree or limbs,
shall remove said tree or portion thereof from said premises within ten (10) days. If the tree is in
that portion of the premises which constitutes front yard or side yard adjacent to a public street
under the city zoning ordinance,' and is so removed or damaged as to completely destroy it as a
living tree, the tree shall be cut down to approximately ground level. Immediately following the
removal of such tree or portion thereof, the owner of the premises shall restore the premises to a
sightly condition, shall remove all debris therefrom from said premises and shall seed, sod or
otherwise care for all uncovered soil so as to prevent blowing of dirt and dust and erosion of the
soil. In case the owner of the premises shall fail to comply with the requirements of this section,
the director shall give written notice of the requirements of this chapter and if such requirements
are not met within ten (10) days after such notice is given, the director may carry out the removal
and restoration required by this section and in such event the cost shall be a debt owing by the
owner to the city. In case the owner shall fail to pay such cost within sixty (60) days after a bill for
the same has been rendered, the director shall report the same to the city commission for collection
as a single lot assessment in accordance with the City Charter 2 and section 1.306 of this Code.
(1982 Code §3.41)
3.40. Private trees overhanging public ways. The owners of any tree on private property
overhanging any street or right-of-way shall remove all decayed and broken limbs and branches
from trees on such property where such limbs and branches overhang a street or public property.
3.41. Private tree disputes Private tree disputes are generally civil matters between property
owners, however Michigan law does assign responsibilities and liability regarding certain
scenarios.
3.42. Diseased and infested private trees. When the director shall discover that any tree
growing on private property within the city is afflicted with any dangerous and infectious insect

infestation or disease that constitutes a hazard to the people of East Grand Rapids, or to other
trees, they shall forthwith serve a written notice upon the owner, in the manner specified in section
1.10 of this Code, describing the tree, its location and the nature of the infestation or tree disease
and ordering the owner to take such measures as may be reasonably necessary to cure such
infestation or disease and to prevent the spreading thereof, specifying the measures required to be
taken. Such order may require the pruning, spraying or destruction of trees, as may be reasonably
necessary. Such notice shall be complied with within ten (10) days after service thereof upon the
owner of the property on which the afflicted tree is located, or within such additional time as may
be stipulated in such notice. (1982 Code §3.44)
3.43. Diseased or infested shrubs and plants. The director shall have the same authority with
respect to diseased or infested shrubs, plants and vines as he has with respect to trees under section
3.44. (1982 Code §3.45)

3.44. Appeal. In case the owner of the property shall feel aggrieved at an order of the director
requiring the maintenance, treatment or destruction of any tree, shrub, plant or vine, the owner
may within forty-eight (48) hours make an appeal to the city commission in writing filed with the
city clerk. The city commission shall hear such appeal at its next regular meeting, unless another
time shall be set, and shall determine the matter with the assistance of such expert advice and
opinion as may be presented at such meeting. (1982 Code §3.47)
3.45. Owner's failure to comply. In case the owner of the property refuses to carry out the
order of the director within the time limited, or in case of an appeal, within five (5) days after the
commission shall have affirmed such order with or without amendment thereto, the director shall
carry out the order and shall bill the owner of the property for the cost thereof. In case the owner
of such property shall fail to pay such bill within sixty (60) days after the same has been rendered,
the director shall report the same to the city commission for collection as a single lot assessment in
accordance with the City Charter3 and section 1.306 of this Code. The director may, without
serving the above notice, when the owner shall consent thereto and pay the reasonable cost
thereof, cause trees growing on private property to be sprayed when he deems the same necessary
on account of any infestation or disease or threat thereof. (1982 Code §3.48)
3.46. Inspections. The director, and other city employees or agents authorized by him, shall
have authority to enter upon private premises for the purpose of examining any trees, shrubs,
plants or vines for the presence of destructive insects or plant diseases. No damages shall be
awarded for the destruction of any tree, shrub, plant or vine, or the product thereof, or injury to the
same, if done by the director or under his direction, in accordance with this chapter. (1982 Code
§3,49)
3.47. Lawn extensions. On residence streets, the abutting owner may maintain a planting strip
on the lawn extension between the sidewalk and curb and may plant flowers, trees (with
permission) and shrubbery therein in conformity with this chapter. No person shall willfully injure
or destroy any grass, flower, tree or shrub upon any lawn extension or throw any papers, refuse or

1. See Charter ch. XI.

other thing thereon. No person shall drive an automobile, bicycle or other vehicle upon or over any
such lawn extension. (1982 Code §3.50)
3.48. Overhead utility lines and trimming permits. The director shall grant permission to
public utilities to trim and keep trimmed all trees within the streets, alleys, parks and public places
of the city in such manner as shall keep the overhead lines of such public utilities safe and
accessible. Such trimming shall be done in accordance with approved practices and under the
general direction of the department. Said permission shall require reasonable prior notice to the
city before work is commenced and require that the utilities and/or their contractors provide
written notice describing trimming to be completed with a contact number for question/concerns.
Provided however, that in the event of an emergency requiring immediate maintenance work on
the overhead lines of said public utilities, prior notice of commencing work under said permit shall
not be required. The word "emergency" as used in this section shall be defined to mean the
occurrence or happening of an event which could not be foreseen by the exercise of reasonable
care and foresight and which might reasonably be expected to cause damage to the overhead lines
of the public utilities. (1982 Code §3.51)
3.49. Rules and regulations. The director shall, with the approval of the commission, make
such rules and regulations supplementary to this chapter, and not in conflict herewith, as the
director may from time to time deem necessary. The rules and regulations in effect at the adoption
of this Code shall continue in effect until changed. No person shall fail to obey any rule or
regulation effective hereunder. (1982 Code §3.52)
Section 2.

This ordinance shall be effective on _______, 2018.

Section 3.
Notice of adoption of this ordinance shall be published within 10 days of its
enactment by publication of a digest, summary, or statement of purpose of the ordinance as
provided by Chapter VII, Sections 7.5 of the Charter of the City of East Grand Rapids.
NOTICE OF ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE BY THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS:
Notice is hereby given that on October ___, 2018, the City Commission of the City of East Grand
Rapids adopted an ordinance restating Chapter 32 of Title III of the City Code. This Chapter deals
with trees, shrubs, and plants and matters related thereto. The full text of the ordinance is
available for inspection by and distribution to the public at the office of the City Clerk. No further
or additional publication of this ordinance is required or contemplated.

City of East Grand Rapids

By
Karen K. Brower
City Clerk.
14021139_3

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 41 OF TITLE IV OF
THE CODE OF THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS ORDAINS:
Section 1.
Chapter 41 of Title IV of the Code of the City of East Grand Rapids is amended
in its entirety to read as follows:
CHAPTER 41
STREETS
Article I – General Street and Sidewalk Provisions
4.1. Definitions.
Unless the context specifically indicates otherwise, the meanings of terms used in this chapter
shall be as follows:
DEPARTMENT shall mean the department of public works.
DIRECTOR shall mean the director of public works, or designee.
STREET shall mean all of the land lying between property lines on either side of all streets,
alleys and boulevards in the city, and includes lawn extensions and sidewalks and the area
reserved therefor where the same are not yet constructed. (1982 Code §4.1; Ord., 8-14-92)
4.2. Street names.
All streets shall be known and designated by the names applied thereto on the map of the city
known as the street plan, filed with the department. The naming of any new street or the
changing of the name of any street shall be done by resolution, which resolution shall amend the
said map and be submitted to the Michigan Department of Transportation per Public Act 51.
(Ord., 8-14-92)
4.3. Street numbers.
All premises shall bear a distinctive street number at or near the front entrance of said premises.
Such numbers shall be not less than three (3) inches high, shall be facing the street and adjacent
to the principal entrance, and in such position as to be plainly visible from the street. (1982 Code
§4.3)
4.4. Damage and obstruction prohibited.
No person shall make any excavation in, or cause any damage to, any street in the city, except
under the conditions and in the manner permitted in this chapter. No person shall place any
article, thing or obstruction in any street, except under the conditions and in the manner
permitted in this chapter, but this provision shall not be deemed to prohibit such temporary

obstructions as may be incidental to the expeditious movement of articles and things to and from
abutting premises, nor to the lawful parking of vehicles within the part of the street reserved for
vehicular traffic. (1982 Code §4.4)
4.5. Permits and bonds.
Where permits are authorized in this chapter, they shall be obtained upon application to the
director, upon such forms as the director shall prescribe, and there shall be a fee which shall be
provided for by resolution of the commission. Such permit shall be revocable by the director for
failure to comply with this chapter, rules and regulations adopted pursuant hereto, and the lawful
orders of the director or his duly authorized representative and shall be valid only for the period
of time endorsed thereon.
Application for a permit under the provisions of this chapter shall be deemed an agreement by
the applicant to promptly complete the work permitted, observe all pertinent laws and regulations
of the city in connection therewith, repair all damage done to the street surface and installations
on, over or within such street, including trees, and protect and save harmless the city from all
damages or actions at law that may arise or may be brought on account of injury to persons or
property resulting from the work done under the permit or in connection therewith. Where
liability insurance policies are required to be filed in making application for a permit, they shall
be in the amounts prescribed by resolution of the City:
A duplicate executed copy or photocopy of the original of such insurance policy, or a certificate
of insurance, shall be filed with the city clerk. Where cash deposits are required with the
application for any permit hereunder, such deposit shall be in the amount required by the
Director depending on the size of the project, except as otherwise specified in this chapter, and
such deposit shall be used to defray all expenses to the city arising out of the granting of the
permit and work done under the permit or in connection therewith. Six (6) months after the
completion of the work done under the permit, any balance of such cash deposit unexpended
shall be refunded. In any case where the deposit does not cover all costs and expenses of the city,
the deficit shall be paid by the applicant. (1982 Code §4.5)
4.6. Street openings; permits; insurance.
No person shall make any excavation or opening in or under any street without first obtaining a
written permit from the director. The director may require that the applicant post a cash deposit
and file a liability insurance policy as provided in section 4.5 before such permit is issued. (1982
Code §4.6)
4.7. Emergency street openings.
The director may, if the public safety requires immediate action, grant permission to make a
necessary street opening in an emergency; provided, that a permit shall be obtained on the
following business day and the provisions of this chapter shall be complied with. (1982 Code
§4.7)

4.8. Backfilling.
All trenches in a public street or other public place, except by special permission, shall be
backfilled in accordance with regulations adopted pursuant to this chapter. Any settlement shall
be corrected within eight (8) hours after notification to do so. (1982 Code §4.8)
4.9. Sidewalk openings.
All openings in the sidewalk for any purpose shall be of a design approved by the director and
shall be protected in a manner satisfactory to the director. (1982 Code §4.9)
4.10. Utility poles.
Utility poles may be placed in such streets as the director shall prescribe and shall be located
thereon in accordance with the directions of the director. Such poles shall be removed or
relocated as the director shall from time to time direct. (1982 Code §4.10)
4.11. Maintenance of installations in street.
Every owner of, and every person in control of, any premises hereafter maintaining a sidewalk
opening, manhole, or any post, pole, sign, awning, wire, pipe, conduit or other structure or
excavation in, under, over or upon, any street which is adjacent to or a part of the premises, shall
keep the same and the covers thereof, and any utility installations thereon or therein, in good
repair and condition at all times during his or her ownership or control thereof, and shall
indemnify and save harmless the city against all costs, claims, damages or actions that may result
from or be based on such excavation or structure being under, over, in or upon the street, or
being unsecured, out of repair or defective. (1982 Code §4.11)
4.12. New paving.
Whenever the city commission shall determine to pave or resurface any street, the director shall,
not less than thirty (30) days prior to commencement of construction, serve notice upon all
public utilities, requiring them to install and make all necessary changes in underground work in
advance of the paving or resurfacing. (1982 Code §4.12)
4.13. Sewer and water connections.63
When such paving or resurfacing shall have been ordered or declared necessary by the city
commission, such sewer and water connections as are necessary shall be installed in advance of
such paving or resurfacing, and the cost thereof may be charged against the premises adjacent
thereto, or to be served thereby, and against the owner of such premises. Where such paving or
resurfacing is financed in whole or in part by special assessment, the cost of such sewer and
water connections may be charged against the premises adjacent thereto, or to be served thereby,
as a part of the special assessment for such paving or resurfacing. Where such paving or
resurfacing is financed otherwise than by special assessment, the cost of the sewer and water
connections so installed may be determined by the city commission to constitute a lien on said

premises and shall be collected as a single lot assessment in accordance with the City Charter 64
and section 1.306 of this Code. (1982 Code §4.13)
4.14. Determination of necessity of water and sewer connections.
The necessity for such sewer and water connections shall be determined by the director, which
determination shall be based upon the size, shape and area of each abutting lot or parcel of land,
the lawful use of such land under the zoning regulations of the city,65 the character of the locality
and the probable future development of each abutting lot or parcel of land. The director shall
give written notice of the intention to install such sewer and water connections and to charge the
cost of the same to the premises, to each owner of land abutting the street, to be furnished with
such connections, as shown by the records of the city assessor in accordance with section 1.10 of
this Code. Any owner objecting to the installation of any such sewer or water connection shall
file his objections in writing, within seven (7) days after service of such notice, with the director
who shall, after considering each such objection, make a final determination of the sewer and
water connections to be installed. (1982 Code §4.14)
4.15. Prohibited openings.
No permit to make any opening or excavation in or under a paved street shall be granted to any
person within a period of two (2) years after the completion of any paving or resurfacing thereof
unless a street opening is necessary as a public safety measure, in which case the director may
suspend the operation of this section as to such street opening upon such conditions as he may
reasonably establish. (1982 Code §4.15)
4.16, 4.17. Reserved.
Article II – Curb Cuts
4.18. Permit required; conditions.
No opening in or through any curb or any street shall be made without first obtaining a written
permit from the director. Curb cuts and sidewalk driveway crossings to provide access to private
property shall comply with the following:
A. No single curb cut shall be less than ten (10) feet wide.
B. The minimum distance between any driveway and a public crosswalk shall be twenty (20)
feet.
C. The minimum distance between curb cuts serving commercial property shall be twenty-five
(25) feet.
D. The maximum number of lineal feet of sidewalk driveway crossings permitted for any lot,
parcel of land, business or enterprise, shall be forty-five (45) per cent of the total abutting

street frontage up to and including two hundred (200) lineal feet of street frontage plus
twenty (20) per cent of the lineal feet of street frontage in excess of two hundred (200) feet.
E. The necessary adjustments to utility poles, light standards, fire hydrants, catch basins, street
signs, signals or other public improvements or installations shall be accomplished without
cost to the city.
F. All construction shall be in accordance with plans and specifications approved by the director.
(1982 Code §4.18)
4.19. Reserved.
Article III – Street or Sidewalk Obstructions
4.20. Permit to obstruct; insurance.
No person shall occupy any street or sidewalk with any materials or machinery incidental to the
construction, demolition or repair of any building adjacent to said street, or for any other
purpose, without first obtaining a permit from the director. The director may require that the
applicant post a cash deposit and file a liability insurance policy as required by section 4.5 before
such permit is issued. (1982 Code §4.20)
4.21. Pedestrian passage.
At least five (5) feet of sidewalk space shall be kept clean and clear for the free passage of
pedestrians and if the construction, demolition or repair operations are such that such free
passageway is impracticable, a temporary plank sidewalk with substantial railings or sidewalk
shelter, built in accordance with Chapter 80 of this Code, shall be provided around such
construction. (1982 Code §4.21)
4.22. Reserved
Article IV – Safety Requirements
4.23. Safeguards.
All openings, excavations and obstructions shall be substantially barricaded and railed off, and at
night shall be provided with prescribed warning lights. Warning lights perpendicular to the flow
of traffic shall not be more than three (3) feet apart, and parallel to the flow of traffic not over
fifteen (15) feet apart. (1982 Code §4.23)
4.24. Shoring excavations.
All openings and excavations in any street shall, where necessary, be properly and substantially
sheeted and braced as a safeguard to workmen and to prevent cave-ins or washouts which would
tend to injure the thoroughfare or subsurface structure of the street. (1982 Code §4.24)

4.25. Reserved
Article V – Housing Moving
4.26. Permit requirements; moving operations.
No person shall move, transport or convey any building, machinery, truck or trailer, more than
eight (8) feet eight (8) inches wide or more than thirteen (13) feet six (6) inches high above the
surface of the roadway into, across or along any street, or other public place in the city without
first obtaining a permit from the director. The applicant shall obtain and file written approvals
from all light, telephone, gas and water utilities having installations in any street to be entered,
stating that all connections have been properly cut off and, where necessary, that all
obstructions along the route of moving will be removed without delaying moving operations. In
addition, clearance shall be obtained from the public safety department, approving the proposed
route through the city streets and the time of moving, together with an estimate of the cost to the
public safety department as the result of the moving operations. The applicant shall deposit with
the city the total cost to the city as estimated by the public safety and public works department,
plus a cash deposit as required by section 4.5 and shall file with the city a liability insurance
policy in the amount prescribed by resolution of the City (1982 Code §4.26)
1. See Chapter 85 of this Code for building removal. (Ordinance Amendment)
Article VI – Additional Regulations
4.27. Authority of city manager to make additional regulations.
The city manager may make such additional regulations pertaining to openings and excavations
in the streets, curb cuts, street obstructions, and house moving as he deems necessary for the
public health and safety. Such regulations shall be subject to the approval of the city
commission. Failure to comply with any such regulations shall constitute a violation of this
chapter. (1982 Code §4.27)
4.28. Responsibility for Driveway Approaches, Retaining Walls and Areaways.
All driveway approaches, retaining walls and areaways within the City shall be maintained by
the owner of the land adjacent to or abutting upon the improvement. This maintenance shall
include building, rebuilding and removing all obstacles. Snow and ice removal for drive
approaches are the responsibility of the adjacent property owner.
4.29. Driveway approaches, Retaining Walls and Areaways Not in Good Repair.
The director is hereby authorized and directed to order any person who owns property abutting to
any driveway approach, retaining wall or areaway that is not in good repair, to build, rebuild or
repair such improvements in accordance with engineering standards as applicable. As used in
this section, property owner means the owner of the land upon which there is a driveway

approach, retaining wall or areaway or the owner of the property directly abutting or adjacent to
any of these improvements.
4.30. Removal of encroachments.
The city may remove encroachments and obstructions and fill excavations in the street and
charge the expense of such removal or filling against the person responsible therefor, including
the abutting landowner who permitted the encroachment, obstruction or excavation to exist other
than in accordance with the terms and conditions of this chapter, and the costs thereof shall be a
lien on such abutting landowner's premises and shall be collected as a single lot assessment in
accordance with the City Charter 67 and section 1.306 of this Code. (Ord., 2-15-91)
4.31. Temporary street closings.
The director shall have authority to temporarily close any street, or portion thereof, when he shall
deem such street to be unsafe or temporarily unsuitable for use for any reason. He shall cause
suitable barriers and signs to be erected on said street, indicating that the same is closed to public
travel. When any street or portion thereof shall have been closed to public travel, no person shall
drive any vehicle upon or over said street except as the same may be necessary incidentally to
authorized street repair or construction work being done in the area closed to public travel. No
person shall move or otherwise interfere with any sign or barrier erected pursuant to this section
without authority from the director. (1982 Code §4.29)
4.32. Vacating streets.
When the commission shall deem it advisable to vacate a street or alley or any part thereof, the
commission shall by resolution so declare and in the same resolution shall appoint a time, not
less than four (4) weeks thereafter, when the commission shall meet and hear objections to the
vacation. Notice of the meeting, including a copy of the resolution, shall be published once not
less than two (2) weeks before the time appointed for the meeting in a newspaper of general
circulation in the City. Notice of the meeting shall also be served personally or by mail at least
seven (7) days prior to the day of the meeting upon property owners of record, as listed in the
records at City Hall, for all property which abuts the portion of the street or alley to be vacated.
Failure of a property owner to receive such notice shall not invalidate the vacation proceedings.
Vacated portions of streets and alleys shall be eliminated from the street plan map. A certified
copy of the resolution of vacation adopted by the city commission shall be recorded with the
register of deeds and sent to the state treasurer as required by state law.68 (Ord., 2-1-91)
4.33. Sanctions and penalties.
Violation of any provisions of this article shall be a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not
more than five hundred dollars ($500.00), or by imprisonment for not more than ninety (90)
days, or both such fine and imprisonment. Each day of a continuing violation, as determined by
the city upon prior written notice to the violator, may be charged and punished as a separate and
distinct offense. (Ord., 3-18-2005)

Section 2.

This ordinance shall be effective on _______, 2018.

Section 3.
Notice of adoption of this ordinance shall be published within 10 days of its
enactment by publication of a digest, summary, or statement of purpose of the ordinance as
provided by Chapter VII, Sections 7.5 of the Charter of the City of East Grand Rapids.
NOTICE OF ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE BY THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS:
Notice is hereby given that on October ___, 2018, the City Commission of the City of East
Grand Rapids adopted an ordinance restating Chapter 41 of Title IV of the City Code. This
Chapter deals with the City's streets and matters related thereto. The full text of the ordinance is
available for inspection by and distribution to the public at the office of the City Clerk. No
further or additional publication of this ordinance is required or contemplated.

City of East Grand Rapids

By
Karen K. Brower
City Clerk.
14021169_3

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 42 OF TITLE IV OF
THE CODE OF THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS ORDAINS:
Section 1.
Chapter 42 of Title IV of the Code of the City of East Grand Rapids is amended
in its entirety to read as follows:
CHAPTER 42
SIDEWALKS
4.41. Definitions.
When used in this chapter, the words defined in this section shall have the following meanings:
DIRECTOR shall mean the director of Public Works, or designee.
SIDEWALK shall mean the portion of the street right-of-way designed for pedestrian travel.
(1982 Code §4.41; Ord., 8-14-92)
4.42. General construction requirements.
No person shall construct, rebuild or repair any sidewalk without a right of way permit. All
work must be to required standards. (1982 Code §4.42)
4.43. Sidewalk specifications.
Sidewalks shall be constructed to Michigan Department of Transportation Specifications.
4.44. Damage to sidewalk or pedestrian path.
Any person who shall damage a sidewalk or pedestrian path (or any portion thereof) in any way
shall be responsible for returning of the sidewalk or pedestrian path to its state prior to such
damage. At the City’s option, the City may either repair the damage caused by such person and
such person shall be responsible for reimbursing the City for such repair work, or, alternatively
the City may require that the person who caused the damage repair the sidewalk or pedestrian
path to its prior state within 30 days of the date of damage.
4.45. Winter Maintenance.
Adjacent property owners are responsible for snow and ice removal beyond the level of service
provided by the City or in the event that the City is not able to provide snow removal for
sidewalks.

4.46. Suspension or revocation of permit; stop work orders.
The director may suspend any permit issued under the terms of this chapter for failure to comply
with the terms of this chapter, or the rules, regulations, plans and specifications established under
the provisions of this chapter for the construction, reconstruction or repair of any sidewalk. The
director may cause work to be stopped under any permit granted for the construction,
reconstruction or repair of any sidewalk by issuing a stop order whenever in his judgment the
provisions of this chapter are not complied with, and any such stop order shall be effective
immediately. (1982 Code §4.45)
4.47. Ordering construction.
The director shall determine at least once a year which new sidewalks should be constructed
during the year and which existing sidewalks shall be rebuilt or repaired. It shall be the duty of
the director, on or before June 1 of each year, to give the owner of the premises adjacent to
where a sidewalk is to be constructed, rebuilt or repaired by the owner, written notice to
construct, rebuild, or repair the same within thirty (30) days after the service of said notice.
Initial construction shall be the responsibility of the property owner of the property adjacent to
where the sidewalk is to be placed. Repair or replacement shall be the responsibility of the
property owner adjacent to where the sidewalk is located if the actions or inactions of the owner,
occupant, agents or contractors hired by the owner or occupant damage the sidewalk. In all other
instances, repair or replacement shall be the responsibility of the city. (Ord., 8-14-92)
4.48. Construction by city.
If a sidewalk is not constructed, rebuilt or repaired within the time fixed by a notice issued
pursuant to section 4.47, the director shall make a written report to the commission of the neglect
or the refusal of the owner to comply with said notice. The commission may then establish a
special assessment district for the purpose of constructing, rebuilding or repairing such sidewalks
upon receiving a recommendation of the director that a reasonable grouping of a number of
individual sidewalk projects may be established to permit the taking of bids for construction
under a single contract. In the event that any of such sidewalks are not suitable for grouping with
other sidewalks in a special assessment district as herein provided, the commission may then
order the director to cause such sidewalks to be constructed, rebuilt or repaired, and make report
to the commission of such activity. At the same time, the director shall prepare an account for the
expense of labor, material and services incurred thereby, and report the same, together with a
correct description of the premises adjacent to where such work shall have been done and the
name of the owner thereof, to the treasurer as required by the provisions of section 1.306 of this
Code. (Ord., 5-7-90; 1993 Code)
4.49. Levy of assessments.
In any case where the commission orders the director to cause any sidewalk to be constructed,
rebuilt or repaired and receives the report from the director required by section 4.48, the
commission shall determine what amount or part of such expense shall be charged and the
person against whom the premises upon which the same shall be levied as a special assessment

and shall cause such amount so determined to be charged, together with an administration charge
of ten (10) per cent in addition thereto. Such action shall be treated as a single lot assessment in
accordance with the City Charter 69 and section 1.306 of this Code. (Ord., 5-7-90)
Section 2.

This ordinance shall be effective on _______, 2018.

Section 3.
Notice of adoption of this ordinance shall be published within 10 days of its
enactment by publication of a digest, summary, or statement of purpose of the ordinance as
provided by Chapter VII, Sections 7.5 of the Charter of the City of East Grand Rapids.
NOTICE OF ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE BY THE CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS:
Notice is hereby given that on October ___, 2018, the City Commission of the City of East
Grand Rapids adopted an ordinance restating Chapter 42 of Title IV of the City Code. This
Chapter deals with the City's sidewalks and matters related thereto. The full text of the
ordinance is available for inspection by and distribution to the public at the office of the City
Clerk. No further or additional publication of this ordinance is required or contemplated.

City of East Grand Rapids

By
Karen K. Brower
City Clerk.
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CITY OF

EAST GRAND RAPIDS
750 LAKESIDE DRIVE SE • EAST GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN 49506
(616) 949-4817

www.eastgr.org

DOUG LAFAVE
ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER

MEMORANDUM
TO:
FROM:
DATE:

Honorable Mayor and City Commissioners
Doug La Fave, Assistant City Manager
October 3, 2018

RE:

Policy and Guidelines for In-Street School Crosswalk Signs

Action Requested: That the City Commission consider approval of the policy and guidelines for the
use of In-Street Pedestrian School Crossing Signs.
Background: The city traffic engineering consultant recently completed a comprehensive review of
all school crosswalk locations citywide with respect to permanent design features, signage, pavement
markings, etc. utilizing the Michigan Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MMUTCD) and
the National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO) urban street design guide. These
manuals/sources and others are based on thorough case studies to provide guidance for
use/application of traffic control devices based on criteria/variables for specific environments. Traffic
control device installation in one setting does not translate to use in another. Variables that are
reviewed to determine what is most appropriate for each location are traffic speeds, crossing distance,
number of lanes, visibility, traffic and pedestrian volumes, accident history and road geometry.
As part of the review process the Infrastructure Committee has discussed the use of In-Street
Pedestrian School Crosswalk Signs at the designated school crosswalk locations not controlled by
stop signs, yield signs or traffic signals. The policy and guidelines will help to further promote
awareness and enhance safety during the brief time periods where spikes in pedestrian crossings take
place and create a uniform approach with respect to use and placement within the community.
The City has also undertaken educational outreach steps to help educate and promote pedestrian
safety. This year the City partnered with East Grand Rapids Public Schools and the East Grand
Rapids Community Foundation to create several educational videos to provide tips for commuting to
school safely. These videos have been completed and are currently being used.
The City Commission approved recommendations through a traffic control order based on the traffic
engineering review of school crosswalk locations. This approval was subject to receipt of a
chart/description of outlining variables for traffic control applications and a policy regarding the use
of In-Street Pedestrian School Crossing Signs.
This has been reviewed by the Infrastructure Committee and found to be in order.
________________________
Brian Donovan, City Manager

CITY OF
EAST GRAND RAPIDS
750 LAKESIDE DRIVE SE-EAST GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN 49506

Policy and Guidelines for the Use of In-Street Signs in School Areas
A.

Purpose & Objective:

The purpose of this policy is to allow the usage of and give guidance for the installation of InStreet Pedestrian School Crossing Signs (R1-6b) in accordance with the Michigan Manual on
Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MMUTCD). The In-Street Pedestrian School Crossing Signs
(R1-6b) may be used to remind traveling motorists of the Michigan Uniform Traffic Code
(adopted by the City of East Grands under Chapter 101 Title X Section 10.5 and 10.6) whereby:
R 28.1702 Rule 702. Pedestrians; right-of-way in crosswalk; violation as civil infraction.
(1) When traffic-control signals are not in place or are not in operation, the driver of a vehicle shall yield the right of-way, slowing down or stopping if need be to so yield, to a pedestrian crossing the roadway within a crosswalk
when the pedestrian is on the half of the roadway on which the vehicle is traveling or
when the pedestrian is approaching so closely from the opposite half of the roadway as to be in danger, but a
pedestrian shall not suddenly leave a curb or other place of safety and walk or run into a path of a vehicle that is so
close that it is impossible for the driver to yield.
(2) A person who violates this rule is responsible for a civil infraction.

It should be noted that studies show that excessive use of signs and pavement markings can
substantially reduce the effectiveness of such devices. Therefore, a consistent application of this
policy will serve both motorists and pedestrians in the City.
B.

Conditions for Use/Placement:

In-Street Pedestrian School Crossing Signs (R1-6b) shall be considered for use under the
following criteria:
1. The signs shall not be used on approaches controlled by stop signs, yield signs or traffic
control signals.
2. The signs shall only be used at existing designated school crossings to supplement
permanent ground mounted school crossing signs (S1-1 with W16-7P) at the following
locations:
• Lake Drive and Bagley Avenue (East Grand Rapids High School)
• Lake Drive and Kenesaw Drive (East Grand Rapids Middle School)
• Lake Drive and Lovett Avenue (Wealthy Elementary School)
• Wealthy Street between Edgemere Drive and Greenwood Avenue (Wealthy
Elementary School)
• Hall Street west of Breton Road (Lakeside Elementary School)
• Breton Road and Berwyk Road (Breton Downs Elementary School)
• Franklin Street and Gladstone Drive (St. Stephen School)
3. The signs shall be used in accordance with the EGRPS school schedule and as is practical
750 Lakeside Dr. SE • East Grand Rapids, Michigan 49506-3029 Partners with:
Telephone 616-940-4817 • Fax 616-831-6121 • www.eastgr.org

during winter months due to safety issues with respect to snow accumulation and snow
removal operations.
4. Signs will only be placed prior to peak school crossing times by certified/trained school
crossing guards in accordance with the crossing guard schedule who are assigned to or
nearby approved locations. Signs will be removed immediately after those individual peak
crossing times.
C.

Technical Requirements:
1. The installation shall not interfere with the visibility and general effectiveness of any other
signs in the area.
2. Only one sign structure shall be used per approach at the designated marked crosswalks.
3. All elements of the In-Street Pedestrian School Crossing Signs (R1-6b) shall conform to
the guidance and standards as outlined in the latest edition of the MMUTCD.

D.

Removal of Signs:

In-Street Pedestrian Crossing Signs (R1-6b) may be moved or removed when the following
conditions exist:
1. Street redesign warrants crosswalk location changes.
2. School building use, location or redesign changes.

Effective Date Approved by the City Commission: _______________________

PROCEEDINGS OF THE CITY COMMISSION
CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
Special Meeting Held September 24, 2018

Mayor Seibold called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. in the City Commission Chambers at the East Grand Rapids
Community Center.

Present:

Commissioners Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Mayor Seibold

Absent:

None

Also Present:

City Clerk Brower

2018-129.

No public comment was received.

2018-130.

Kathie Grinzinger from the Michigan Municipal League conducted a work session with the city commission on
the qualifications and traits desired in the next city manager.

The meeting adjourned at 7:44 p.m., subject to the call of the Mayor until October 1, 2018.
____________________________________
Karen K. Brower, City Clerk

PROCEEDINGS OF THE CITY COMMISSION
CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
Regular Meeting Held October 1, 2018

Mayor Seibold called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the City Commission Chambers at the East Grand Rapids
Community Center and led the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.

Present:

Commissioners Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Mayor Seibold

Absent:

None

Also Present:

City Attorney Huff; Assistant City Manager LaFave; Public Safety Director Herald; City Clerk Brower;
Communications Specialist Greenleaf

2018-131.

Peter Dimitriou, 2621 Inverness (GR), presented information on several climate change events happening this
week and gave an update on the rain forests.
Paul Hegele, 2073 Hall, reported on the recent conviction of a fraudulent contractor and thanked the Public
Safety Department and City Attorney for working to bring justice for the residents affected.
Curt Benson, candidate for circuit court judge, was present to introduce himself to the city commission.

2018-132.

No commissioner comment was received.

2018-133.

Acceptance of crosswalk study and approval of related traffic orders.
Assistant City Manager LaFave reviewed the report prepared by the city’s engineering traffic consultant
analyzing all of the city’s crosswalks near schools and recommending several changes to standardize the height
and location of signage and warning lights, remove obstructions and to consider some long-term improvements
to traffic bump outs. Mr. LaFave reported that the Infrastructure Committee would be meeting next week to
discuss the use of in-street signage to draw further attention to the crosswalks to promote safety. Following that
meeting, a policy and recommendation will be presented to the city commission for approval.
Mr. LaFave addressed the many suggestions from residents for lights, stop signs and traffic lights by noting that
each road crossing needed to be considered separately because not every solution fits each situation and
variables as road width, speeds, volume, parking lanes, etc. needed to be considered from an engineering
standpoint. For instance, 4-way stop signs are only warranted when the traffic coming from all directions is
relatively equal, which is not the case in front of the high school. Placing a 4-way stop sign there would cause
long back-ups on Lake Drive and would increase the traffic and speeds on adjacent streets as people seek to
avoid the backups.
Assistant City Manager LaFave also noted the crosswalk at Lake Drive and Kenesaw was upgraded with new
consistent signage, lighting and new bumpouts when the road was resurfaced so that it is consistent with all
other school crosswalks. He stated that some of the changes recommended in the report—such as signage or
lighting—can be done within the next few weeks, while upgrades like bumpouts will need to be planned in
conjunction with future construction projects. Mr. LaFave also stated that a uniform approach to all crossings
ultimately increases safety when both drivers and pedestrians know what to expect at each area they approach.
Other efforts such as education videos for elementary and middle school students and other reminders for
drivers are being coordinated by city staff.
Mayor Seibold asked that these issues be discussed during the planned mobility study so that both pedestrian
and vehicle safety and access are considered together. She also asked that staff prepare a chart of various traffic
and pedestrian safety measures, their applications and pros/cons so that commissioners can answer questions
they receive from the public.

Proceedings of the East Grand Rapids City Commission
Regular Meeting Held October 1, 2018
Page 2

Mayor Seibold opened this issue for public comment. The following people expressed their opinions:
- Michael Terhorst, 927 Ogden

Reported some Chicago neighborhoods purposely made their
neighborhoods confusing and narrow to slow traffic and
suggested EGR revisit the easy traffic flow on Lake Drive to
make it less appealing to commuters. Assistant City Manager
LaFave stated that because of the two lakes, East GR has very
few options for east/west and north/south traffic flow. He also
noted that several measures have been taken to keep Lake
Drive a two-lane street with parking where possible, bike
lanes and bumpouts to keep speeds low while allowing the
efficient flow of traffic.

The following communications were received at City Hall concerning this issue:
- Amy Broersma, 931 Ogden
- Colleen Kanaan, 2535 Hall
- Michelle Langley, 1032 Floral
- Amy Williamson, 957 Ogden
- Mary Kaneti, 954 Ogden
- Deb Cox, 912 Maxwell
- Catherine Schwartz, ______________
- Traci Douglas, 2908 Hall

Concerned about Bagley/SanLuRae/Lake Drive intersection.
Concerned about Bagley/SanLuRae/Lake Drive intersection.
Concerned about Bagley/SanLuRae/Lake Drive intersection.
Concerned about several Lake Drive intersections.
Concerned about Bagley/SanLuRae/Lake Drive intersection.
Concerned about Bagley/SanLuRae/Lake Drive intersection.
Concerned about Bagley/SanLuRae/Lake Drive intersection.
Requested lighted crossing signs at all school crosswalks.

No other public comment was received. Mayor Seibold closed the public comment.
2018-133-A. Walters-Miller. That the School Pedestrian Crossings Review report and related traffic control
recommendations be approved as presented by Progressive AE subject to the development of a policy for instreet crosswalk signage by the Infrastructure Committee and with the request that staff create a chart of
traffic control measures and their uses.
Mayor Seibold reported the city has been using several traffic calming measures for several years to address
many of the issues raised by residents and that each request is studied individually with input from residents.
Commissioner Walters spoke about the short, intense peaks of pedestrian traffic in front of the high school and
wanted to continue discussions for possible added traffic safety measures at this intersection. He liked the idea
of in-street signage for the crosswalks.
Commissioner Favale noted that many students leave the high school during the lunch hour as well.
Mayor Seibold noted that these are all good first steps and ongoing review and oversight would be important
going forward.
Yeas:
Nays:
2018-134.

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-

Introduction of an ordinance to amend Article I of Chapter 83 of Title VII of the City Code pertaining to general
fence requirements.
Zoning Administrator Mizikar reported the Infrastructure Committee is recommending several changes to the
fencing requirements, including the addition of an intent statement, reducing the setbacks for fences on corner
lots to allow more flexibility for residents, and adding a permit process so that the city can make sure people are
aware of the regulations before they start building. The permit would be free to obtain, but will hopefully
increase compliance and reduce complaints and variance requests.

Proceedings of the East Grand Rapids City Commission
Regular Meeting Held October 1, 2018
Page 3

Mayor Seibold opened this issue for public comment. The following people expressed their opinions:
- Pat Walsh, 2841 Reeds Lake Blvd

Asked questions about putting a fence on his specific property.
Suggested adding “at least” to the first line of paragraph C for
the distance off the street right-of-way.

No other public comment was received. Mayor Seibold closed the public comment.
2018-134-A.

Miller-Duncan. That an ordinance to amend Article I of Chapter 83 of Title VII of the City Code
pertaining to general fence requirements be introduced as attached in Exhibit “A” with the addition of “at
least” before “ten (10) feet” in the first line of paragraph C.

Commissioner Favale liked the addition of the free permit system to increase compliance with the rules.
Yeas:
Nays:
2018-135.

Final Reading of an ordinance to amend Sections 2.1, 2.4, 2.5, 2.5A, 2.5-1, 2.10, 2.11 and 2.13 of Chapter 21 of
Title II of the City Code pertaining to combustible waste and solid waste.

2018-135-A.

Walters-Favale. That an ordinance to amend Sections 2.1, 2.4, 2.5, 2.5A, 2.5-1, 2.10, 2.11 and 2.13 of
Chapter 21 of Title II of the City Code pertaining to combustible waste and solid waste be adopted as
attached in Exhibit “B.”

Yeas:
Nays:
2018-136.

Miller-Favale. That an ordinance to amend Sections 2.77 and 2.79 of Chapter 23 of Title II of the City
Code pertaining to city sewer service be adopted as attached in Exhibit “C.”

Yeas:
Nays:

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-

Final Reading of an ordinance to amend Chapter 80 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to the building
code.

2018-137-A.

Duncan-Miller. That an ordinance to amend Chapter 80 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to the
building code be adopted as attached in Exhibit “D.”

Yeas:
Nays:
2018-138.

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-

Final Reading of an ordinance to amend Sections 2.77 and 2.79 of Chapter 23 of Title II of the City Code
pertaining to city sewer service.

2018-136-A.

2018-137.

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-

Final Reading of an ordinance to amend Chapter 82 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to swimming and
other pools.

2018-138-A.

Zagel-Hamrick. That an ordinance to amend Chapter 82 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to
swimming and other pools be adopted as attached in Exhibit “E.”

Yeas:
Nays:

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-
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2018-139.

Final Reading of an ordinance to amend Chapter 84 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to the property
maintenance code.

2018-139-A.

Favale-Hamrick. That an ordinance to amend Chapter 84 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to the
property maintenance code be adopted as attached in Exhibit “F.”

Yeas:
Nays:
2018-140.

Final Reading of an ordinance to repeal Chapter 86 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to the plumbing
code.

2018-140-A.

Miller-Favale. That an ordinance to repeal Chapter 86 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to the
plumbing code be adopted as attached in Exhibit “G.”

Yeas:
Nays:
2018-141.

Hamrick-Miller. That an ordinance to repeal Chapter 87 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to the
electrical code be adopted as attached in Exhibit “H.”

Yeas:
Nays:

Zagel-Favale. That an ordinance to repeal Chapter 89 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to the
mechanical code be adopted as attached in Exhibit “I.”

Yeas:
Nays:

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-

Final Reading of an ordinance to repeal Article VI of Chapter 91 of Title IX of the City Code pertaining to grass
and noxious weeds.

2018-143-A.

Duncan-Favale. That an ordinance to repeal Article VI of Chapter 91 of Title IX of the City Code
pertaining to grass and noxious weeds be adopted as attached in Exhibit “J.”

Yeas:
Nays:
2018-144.

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-

Final Reading of an ordinance to repeal Chapter 89 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to the mechanical
code.

2018-142-A.

2018-143.

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-

Final Reading of an ordinance to repeal Chapter 87 of Title VIII of the City Code pertaining to the electrical
code.

2018-141-A.

2018-142.

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-

Zagel-Miller. To approve the consent agenda as follows:

2018-144-A. Minutes of the regular meeting held September 17, 2018.
2018-144-B. Payroll disbursements of $224,680.29; county and school disbursements of $236,286.02, and total remaining
disbursements of $706,472.36.
2018-144-C. A policy and guidelines for the use of radar speed feedback signs as attached in Exhibit “K.”
Yeas:
Nays:

Duncan, Favale, Hamrick, Miller, Walters, Zagel and Seibold – 7
-0-
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The meeting adjourned at 7:00 p.m., subject to the call of the Mayor until October 15, 2018.
____________________________________
Karen K. Brower, City Clerk

Attachments:

A – Ordinance amendment to Article I of Chapter 83 pertaining to general fence requirements
B – Ordinance amendment to Chapter 21 regarding combustible waste
C – Ordinance amendment to Chapter 23 regarding city sewer service
D – Ordinance amendment to Chapter 80 regarding the building code
E – Ordinance amendment to Chapter 82 regarding swimming pools
F – Ordinance amendment to Chapter 84 regarding property maintenance code
G – Ordinance amendment to repeal Chapter 86 pertaining to the pluming code
H – Ordinance amendment to repeal Chapter 87 pertaining to the electrical code
I – Ordinance amendment to repeal Chapter 89 pertaining to the mechanical code
J – Ordinance amendment to repeal Article VI of Chapter 91 regarding grass and weeds
K – Radar Speed Feedback Sign policy

Attachments listed above are available for inspection at the office of the City Clerk.

CITY OF

EAST GRAND RAPIDS
750 LAKESIDE DRIVE SE • EAST GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN 49506

KAREN MUSHONG
FINANCE DIRECTOR

MEMORANDUM
TO:
FROM:
DATE:

Mayor and City Commissioners
Karen Mushong, Finance Director
September 27, 2018

RE:

FY 2018-19 Budget Amendments

Action Requested: That the City Commission approve the resolution amending the FY 2018-19
budget amendment for the Quarter Ending September 30, 2018.
Background: The General Fund and Special Revenue Funds have been detailed by
department/category on the worksheets attached to the resolution due to their budget level being
approved by department subtotal.
General Fund - In the General Fund there is a net proposed amendment to bring the
planned USE of unrestricted fund balance to $465,000 at June 30, 2019. This will change
the projected ending unrestricted fund balance to $2,871,741 or 23.5% of budgeted
expenditures. The FY 2018/19 original budget was approved with a planned ending
unrestricted fund balance of $2,716,531 or 22.6% of budgeted expenditures. Expected
fund balance increased from the original budget due to the actual results at June 30, 2018
ending higher than planned.
Changes from the original budget included the moving of some items from the 17/18
budget to 18/19, which is part of the reason we ended higher than expected. But we also
need to add some of the following major amendments to the budget:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Additional AV equipment in the commission chambers - $19,800
IPA loan payments were budgeted at 10 years versus the approved amortization of
5 years - $32,300
Payment made to the IPA loan for chiller rebate amount received (less additional
AV equipment purchased above) - $7,700
Employee engagement survey - $3,000
City Manager recruitment costs - $15,000
Upgrades to internet service - $10,000
Additional DTE costs for snowmelt system - $16,000

Street Funds – In the Street Funds, additional revenue of $263,900 from the State has been
included. This funding is one time only increase. In addition, it was found that the auto
expense in winter maintenance needed to be increased and the Breton traffic signal needed
to be moved from the 17/18 budget to 18/19.
Healthcare Fund – Stop loss premiums were not increased in the 18/19 budget and should
have been, which an increase of $150,000. In addition, legal costs related to the
ASR/DaVita lawsuit need to be added.
Motor Pool Fund – A vehicle needed to be moved from 17/18 to 18/19 and the additional
winter maintenance charges were added to revenue.

_________________________
Brian Donovan, City Manager

RESOLUTION 2018-______
RESOLUTION AMENDING FY 2018-2019 FISCAL YEAR BUDGET
The following resolution was offered by Commissioner__________, and supported by Commissioner _________;
WHEREAS,

it is necessary to amend the appropriations of the City's budget by making the proper adjustments
and transfers where necessary; and

WHEREAS,

that various funds may require a change in appropriations due to a change in unanticipated costs

WHEREAS,

departments have reviewed their budget and are proposing the adjustments to be made; and

WHEREAS,

the City Manager has reviewed the amendments and is recommending that the adjustments be made;

WHEREAS,

the Commission may adopt general funds* and special revenue funds* for FY 2018-2019 by
departmental appropriation subtotal as presented in attached information; and

WHEREAS,

the Commission may adopt the non-general funds and non-special revenue funds for FY 2018-2019
by fund total; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of East Grand Rapids that the budget be amended as
follows:
Amended
Budget
11,690,600
12,020,600
(330,000)

Proposed
Amendments
60,800
195,800
(135,000)

Proposed
Budget
11,751,400
12,216,400
(465,000)

GENERAL FUND*

Revenues
Expenditures
Fund Balance Change

MAJOR STREET*

Revenues
Expenditures
Fund Balance Change

1,236,200
1,236,200
-

134,600
54,600
80,000

1,370,800
1,290,800
80,000

LOCAL STREET*

Revenues
Expenditures
Fund Balance Change

1,355,800
1,355,800
-

133,000
38,000
95,000

1,488,800
1,393,800
95,000

MUNICIPAL STREET*

Revenues
Expenditures
Fund Balance Change

1,726,000
1,411,000
315,000

-

1,726,000
1,411,000
315,000

WATER AND SEWER

Revenues
Expenditures
Fund Balance Change

4,176,200
4,701,200
(525,000)

45,000
(45,000)

4,176,200
4,746,200
(570,000)

HEALTH CARE

Revenues
Expenditures
Fund Balance Change

1,781,500
1,866,500
(85,000)

120,000
160,000
(40,000)

1,901,500
2,026,500
(125,000)

MERF

Revenues
Expenditures
Fund Balance Change

836,200
1,066,200
(230,000)

42,300
27,300
15,000

878,500
1,093,500
(215,000)

AYES:
NAYS:
ABSENT:

I, Karen Brower, the duly appointed Clerk of the City of East Grand Rapids, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and
complete copy of a Resolution adopted by the City of East Grand Rapids at a Regular Meeting held October 15, 2018, in
compliance with the Open Meetings Act, Act No. 267 of the Pubic Acts of Michigan, 1976, as amended, the minutes of the
meeting were kept and will be or have been made available as required by said Act.
CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
BY: __________________________
Karen K. Brower, City Clerk

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
GENERAL FUND PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
Original
Budget

Proposed
Amendments

Amended
Budget

REVENUES
CITY TAXES & PENALTIES
LICENSES AND PERMITS
INTERGOVERNMENTAL PROGRAMS
CHARGES FOR CURRENT SERVICES
RECREATION REVENUE
FINES & FORFEITS
INTEREST AND RENTS
OTHER REVENUES
OTHER REVENUES - LIBRARY

$

TOTAL REVENUES

8,594,000
65,000
1,016,300
573,900
1,184,400
35,000
60,000
121,600
40,400

$

25,000
35,800
-

$

8,594,000
65,000
1,016,300
573,900
1,184,400
35,000
85,000
157,400
40,400

11,690,600

60,800

11,751,400

-

-

-

TRANSFERS
TRANSFERS FROM OTHER FUNDS
TOTAL REVENUES & TRANSFERS

$

11,690,600

$

60,800

$

11,751,400

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
GENERAL FUND PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
Original
Budget

Proposed
Amendments

Amended
Budget

EXPENDITURES
GENERAL GOVERNMENT
CITY COMMISSION
CITY MANAGER
CITY ATTORNEY
ELECTIONS
ASSESSOR
FINANCE
GENERAL ADMIN

$

TOTAL GENERAL GOVERNMENT
PUBLIC SAFETY
PUBLIC SAFETY
STATE PROGRAMS

$

TOTAL PARKS & RECREATION
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

5,343,500
5,500

$

921,000
152,500
99,000
128,300
452,500
11,400
140,300

$

800,300
211,500
148,600
111,300
429,100
208,500
60,100
91,500

$

50,000
-

$

16,000
-

$

8,000
7,000
-

5,393,500
5,500
5,399,000

$

16,000

$

45,200
388,200
285,000
23,300
122,200
669,400
287,200
1,820,500

50,000

1,905,000

$

15,000
10,000
25,000
12,200
52,600
114,800

5,349,000

TOTAL CITY SERIVCES
RECREATION
RECREATION
POOL PROGRAMS
SPECIAL EVENTS
RECREATION PROGRAMMING
GROUNDS MAINTENANCE
RECREATION SPORTS
MIDDLE SCHOOL SPORTS
AQUATIC CLUB (WAVES)

$

1,705,700

TOTAL PUBLIC SAFETY
CITY SERVICES
CITY BUILDINGS
ZONING ADMINISTRATION
STREET LIGHTING
WEALTH STREETSCAPE MAINT
WASTE COLLECTION
LAKE RESTORATION
TREE MAINTENANCE

30,200
378,200
260,000
23,300
122,200
657,200
234,600

921,000
152,500
99,000
144,300
452,500
11,400
140,300
1,921,000

$

808,300
211,500
148,600
111,300
436,100
208,500
60,100
91,500

2,060,900

15,000

2,075,900

11,020,600

195,800

11,216,400

1,000,000

-

1,000,000

195,800

$ 12,216,400

TRANSFERS
TRANSFERS TO OTHER FUNDS
TOTAL EXPENDITURES
& TRANSFERS

$ 12,020,600

$

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
MAJOR STREET FUND PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
Original
Budget

Proposed
Amendments

Amended
Budget

REVENUES
INTERGOVERMENT PROGRAMS
MISCELLANOUS REVENUE
INTEREST AND RENTS
TRANSFERS IN
TOTAL REVNUES

760,000
1,000
2,200
473,000
$

1,236,200

133,900
700
$

134,600

893,900
1,700
2,200
473,000
$

1,370,800

EXPENDITURES
ENGINEERING
STREET CONSTRUCTION
ROUTINE MAINTENANCE
TRAFFIC SERVICES
WINTER MAINTENANCE
STREET ADMINISTRATION
DEBT SERVICE
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

68,100
263,000
234,900
79,900
202,300
124,600
263,400
$

1,236,200

-

3,000
21,600
28,000
2,000
$

54,600

80,000

71,100
263,000
234,900
101,500
230,300
126,600
263,400
$

1,290,800

80,000

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
LOCAL STREET FUND PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
Original
Budget

Proposed
Amendments

Amended
Budget

REVENUES
PROPERTY TAX REVENUE
INTERGOVERMENT PROGRAMS
MISCELLANOUS REVENUE
INTEREST AND RENTS
TRANSFERS IN
TOTAL REVNUES

285,000
800
1,070,000
$

1,355,800

130,000
3,000
$

133,000

415,000
3,800
1,070,000
$

1,488,800

EXPENDITURES
ENGINEERING
STREET CONSTRUCTION
ROUTINE MAINTENANCE
TRAFFIC SERVICES
WINTER MAINTENANCE
STREET ADMINISTRATION
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

66,100
760,000
198,300
18,200
190,600
122,600
$

1,355,800

-

3,000
32,000
3,000
$

38,000

95,000

69,100
760,000
198,300
18,200
222,600
125,600
$

1,393,800

95,000

CITY OF EAST GRAND RAPIDS
MUNICIPAL STREET FUND PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
Original
Budget

Proposed
Amendments

Amended
Budget

REVENUES
PROPERTY TAX REVENUE
INTEREST AND RENTS
TRANSFERS IN
TOTAL REVNUES

1,246,000
480,000
$

1,726,000

$

-

1,246,000
480,000
$

1,726,000

EXPENDITURES
SIDEWALKS
STORM DRAINS
STREET CONSTRUCTION
STREET LIGHTING
TRANSFERS OUT
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

200,000
181,500
6,500
1,023,000
$

1,411,000

315,000

$

-

-

200,000
181,500
6,500
1,023,000 *
$

1,411,000

315,000

* - Street construction activity will be recorded and paid out of this fund. However, at the end of the fiscal year, allowable
expenditures will be transferred to the Major or Local Street Fund in order to be accounted for the year-end Act 51 report.

CITY OF

EAST GRAND RAPIDS
750 LAKESIDE DRIVE SE • EAST GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN 49506
KAREN MUSHONG
FINANCE DIRECTOR

MEMORANDUM
TO:

Mayor and City Commissioners

FROM:

Karen Mushong, Finance Director

DATE:

October 8, 2018

Action Requested: That the City Commission approve the proposal of $209,183 for property and
liability insurance with Travelers Insurance as submitted by VanWyk Risk Solutions.
Background: The City Commission approved VanWyk Risk Solutions as the City’s agent of
record for the City’s property and casualty insurance program effective July 1, 2016. The agent
of record is charged with the duty to represent the City in purchasing/bidding the insurance
program as well as assisting with risk management and helping to determine the various coverages
needed by the City.
We instructed VanWyk to shop our coverage this year. The City has not done this in several
years. VanWyk contacted eight insurance companies, however a number of them either did not
have a program for municipalities or the City was not a large for them to bid. Travelers was the
only one to submit a formal bid.
The 2017/2018 expiring premium is $188,394. The renewal quote of $209,183 reflects various
market rate changes as shown in the attached premium summary. The budget for 2018/2019 has
$230.000 budgeted for property and liability insurance, which also includes the broker fee to
VanWyk of $15,000.

_________________________
Brian Donovan, City Manager

General Info
949-2110

City Manager
949-2110

Engineering
940-4817

Assessor
940-4818

Parks & Recreation
949-1750

Public Safety
949-7010

Streets & Utilities
940-4870

fax 940-4884

fax 940-4884

fax 940-4884

fax 940-4884

fax 831-6144

fax 940-4829

fax 940-4872

Premium Summary
2018 / 2019
Property and Equipment

2017 / 2018

$26,298

$25,660

$6,998

$5,633

$34,730

$33,529

$173

$173

$34,957

$24,559

Public Entity Management Liability

$4,600

$4,876

Employment Practices Liability

$9,327

$8,471

Commercial Auto

$52,424

$45,725

Umbrella

$32,962

$33,054

$6,714

$6,714

$209,183

$188,394

Inland Marine
Public Entity General Liability
Employee Benefit Plans Administration
Law Enforcement Liability

Cyber and Crime

Total Premium
(not including agent's fee)

